
The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture
Annual Report 2011–2012

Years 
Young25



The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Annual Report 2011–2012

programs to innovatively meet the needs of 
survivors

•	 work with State and Commonwealth 
governments to ensure that relevant policies 
are sensitive to the needs of survivors 

•	 work with international organisations 
towards the elimination of torture and 
trauma 

•	 conduct and contribute to research to 
enhance understanding of survivors’ needs 
and how best to meet them.

Our primary locations are at Brunswick, 
Dandenong, Sunshine and Ringwood, with a 
counselling space in Werribee. A number of 
services are also provided on an outreach basis 
across Melbourne. Through contracts with 
local regional counselling services, short-term 
torture and trauma counselling is also provided 
in Ballarat, Bendigo, Geelong, the Latrobe 
Valley, Mildura, Shepparton and Swan Hill.

Introducing Foundation House:  
Specialised services for refugees

THe VIctorIan FoundatIon for Survivors 
of torture (Foundation House) was incor-

porated in 1987 to meet the needs of people 
in Victoria who had been subjected to torture 
or trauma in their country of origin or while 
fleeing those countries. Foundation House is 
non-denominational, politically neutral and 
non-aligned. 

Foundation House is constituted as a non-
profit organisation managed by an elected 
Board of Management. While many of our 
programs are funded by charitable trusts, 
corporations and private donations, our core 
funding is provided by the: 
•	 Commonwealth Department of Health and 

Ageing
•	 Victorian Department of Health
•	 Department of Immigration and 

Citizenship, and 
•	 Department of Education and Early 

Childhood Development. 
Foundation House provides direct services to 
survivors of torture and trauma in the form of 
counselling, advocacy, family support, group 
work, psycho-education, information sessions 
and complementary therapies.

Drawing on this practical experience, we:
•	 offer training and consultancy to other 

service providers who have contact with 
survivors of torture and trauma 

•	 develop resources to enhance the 
understanding of survivors’ needs 
among health and welfare professionals, 
government and the wider community

•	 work with government, community groups 
and other providers to develop services and 

Indigenous acknowledgment

VFST Mission Statement

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture 
Inc. (VFST) was established in 1987 to meet the 
needs of people in Victoria who have been subject 
to torture and trauma in their country of origin or 
when fleeing those countries. 

ViSion 
•	 An inclusive society committed to human 

rights and justice.

MiSSion 
•	 To advance the health, wellbeing and human 

rights of people from refugee backgrounds 
who have experienced torture and trauma.

our patrons
“Foundation House continues to work 
in partnership with other agencies and 
government at all levels to achieve policy 
reform that will benefit thousands of refugees 
and their families.” 

– The late Mr David Scott AO

We were Very Saddened to learn of 
the passing of one of our former patrons 

in early 2012, Mr david Scott ao. after a long 
association with Foundation House, david 
stepped down as patron in 2010.

David shared the Foundation’s mission 
statement vision of “an inclusive society 
committed to human rights and justice” and 
worked tirelessly to advance the rights of the 
disadvantaged and the dispossessed. The 
abolition of both mandatory detention and 
compulsory payment for detention in Australia 
are just two reforms that David believed would 
contribute greatly to the health and wellbeing of 
refugees. He will be missed by many.

Our patrons not only associate their names 
and reputations with our work but also give 
generously of their time, networks, support and 
encouragement. We offer our sincere gratitude 
to our esteemed patrons for their generous 
participation.

Patrons

•	 Prof. Hilary Charlesworth AM

•	 Ms Dur-é Dara OAM

•	 Prof. David de Kretser, AC, and  
Mrs Jan de Kretser

•	 Mr Andrew Demetriou
•	 Mr Petro Georgiou
•	 Hon. Michael Kirby AC CMG

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of 
Torture’s primary locations at Brunswick, 
Dandenong, Sunshine and Ringwood, are 
on the traditional lands of the Wurundjeri 
people. In keeping with Foundation 
House’s aspirations to heal individuals and 
communities, we recognise the loss of land, 
children, language, lore and spiritual and 
physical wellbeing of the Wurundjeri people 

and other Indigenous Victorians due to 
the impact of colonisation. We believe that 
acknowledging the past and its impact on the 
present is vital in building strong Victorian 
communities. 

We recognise the survival and enduring 
strengths of Victorian Indigenous culture in 
spite of such dispossession and aim to build 
respectful and informed relationships with 

the Victorian Indigenous community based 
on the acknowledgment of their unique 
position as the traditional owners of Victoria. 
As such, Foundation House is committed 
to the acknowledgment and participation of 
Indigenous Victorians within Foundation 
House events, and this is reflected in our 
official protocols.
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 > Cover: These colourful artworks were 
created by children who attended a 
workshop facilitated by tutors from Box 
Hill Community Arts Centre as part of the 
‘Global Gathering’ student multicultural 
forum in June, 2012. This event is 
organised by the Eastern Schools’ Refugee 
Action Network (ESRAN), an initiative 
coordinated by Foundation House and 
the Department of Education and Early 
Childhood Development (DEECD). The 
forum is designed to create friendship and 
understanding between children of both 
refugee and non-refugee background. The 
2012 theme for Refugee Week, Restoring 
Hope, acknowledges that while a refugee’s 
journey begins with danger, it also begins 
with hope. The students used a variety 
of materials to make collages of birds of 
peace and other symbols representing the 
notion of hope.
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help give our endeavours’ credibility. He was a 
frequent attendee at functions and end-of-year 
activities and he was very heavily involved in 
the East Timorese community, with whom we 
worked quite a lot. He will be very sadly missed. 
And then of course, there was John, who was 
the inaugural Chair. He was at the very first 
meeting where discussions were held about 
setting up the organisation and then Chair of a 
small working group that got the organisation 
incorporated.

LyNNE When you look at the map that he drew 
all those years ago—and many people are aware 
of this crazy diagram that John drew about what 
the organisation should look like and the sorts 
of services it should offer—it’s an incredibly 
complex and wonderful piece of design. But 
when you look at it, does all that still ring true?

PARIS I think the enduring theme of the 
scheme that John put together was that whatever 
we did, it was going to have to have a multitude 
of links to other organisations, professions and 
community groups. Those themes of working 
in partnerships, being connected to a broader 
human rights movement, different professional 
disciplines and refugee communities themselves, 
is embedded in the way in which we’ve worked 
all along. The map is emblematic of John’s ability 
to grasp a wide range of issues, potential players 
and participants and map it out for people.

LyNNE And when I look at it, what I get is an 
incredible excitement, energy and commitment 
to the prospect of an organisation like this one.

PARIS The energy around the establishment 
of the Foundation and its growth has always 
been something that sustains us. And when 

Chairperson and director’s report

A quarter of a Century has passed  
 since the first meeting was held to discuss 

the establishment of a specialist service dedicated 
to assisting survivors of torture and trauma. 
Chairperson Lynne Haultain and foundation 
House director Paris aristotle discuss the agency’s 
many achievements, including meeting the 
challenges of rapid growth and the shifting 
nature of client groups, while remaining true 
to the foundation’s core mission to advance 
the health, wellbeing and rights of people from 
refugee backgrounds who have experienced 
torture.

LyNNE Paris, it’s been 25 years. Now that’s a 
major milestone for you, and it’s also one for 
me because it means I have finally tipped the 
balance and I’ve been Chair longer than I wasn’t! 

PARIS It’s quite extraordinary to think that 
the organisation has now hit its 25th year. 
It’s been 24 years since we began service 
provision, but 25 years since the organisa-
tion was incorporated and established and 
work began to create the Foundation as a 
viable service. A lot of very good people 
have contributed to that work over that 
period of time. 

LyNNE And we have bid farewell with 
great sadness and extraordinary privilege 
to two of our key founders this year in 
David Scott, who was a patron right from 
the start, and most recently John Gibson. 
I don’t think we could ever overestimate 
the contribution that both of them have 
made, and very particularly John as the 
inaugural Chair.

PARIS David had made an extraordi-
nary contribution throughout his life with 
Community Aid Abroad and Oxfam and 
an incredibly diverse range of work in the 
social justice and human services fields. 
And he lent his credibility and support 
to the Foundation from the outset, which 
was something we always appreciated.

LyNNE And that would have been really 
critical for a fledgling organisation?

PARIS Yes. To have patrons like David 
who wanted to stand up and say this is 
an important organisation to support did 

 > “We started with one house and a pile of dreams.”  
  – Paris Aristotle.

a quarter of a Century ago, a humble brick 
building set amongst parkland at House 23/35 Poplar 
road, Parkville, became the very first premises for 
foundation House, an organisation that has grown 
from a single staff member (Paris aristotle) to now 
more than 100 staff spread across four offices in 
Brunswick, Dandenong, Sunshine and ringwood. 
the late John Gibson was instrumental in securing 
initial funding from the Myer foundation, which 
allowed Paris to be employed as coordinator. the 
reichstein foundation then provided funds to secure 
a further two years for the coordinator position and 
the rest, as they say, is history. 

you work with people at the more extreme 
end of the trauma spectrum in terms of 
their experiences, it can be tough going. 
But with the right sort of energy and 
that commitment to partnership and so 
forth, you get an extraordinary amount 
back from clients, client communities, 
other organisations, other professionals, 
government and others. And that helps 
sustain you. 

LyNNE There is no question though that 
the work has become more complex, and 
certainly there is a lot more of it. We were 
talking recently about the time when we 
never thought the organisation would be 
more than, say, 10, 20 people at most.

PARIS Well, back in the days when we 
first began, we certainly thought if we 
could get to 10 or 12 staff, then we’d be 
doing very well. But we realised as we 
lifted the lid on the scale of the issue that 
that was a somewhat naïve appreciation of 
the issues. So now we have 130 plus staff, 
a budget of $10.5 million, and we contin-
ue to have a burgeoning workload as well. 

LyNNE We have a number of offices 
now in metropolitan Melbourne, but a 
really interesting turning point for me 
has been our increasing commitment to 
regional Victoria. 
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PARIS The growth of our work across rural 
and regional Victoria has been quite dramatic. 
Our capacity to do this was supported by the 
State Government in 2011 when it announced 
funding for an expanded pilot in rural Victoria. 
The take up across rural and regional Victoria 
didn’t surprise us and the pace and the enthusi-
asm with which people have grasped it has been 
wonderful. 

We work with an extraordinary network 
of agencies, which means, more so than ever 
before, that no matter where you live in Victoria, 
if you need this type of assistance you’re going 
to be able to get it from good providers. The 
breadth and coverage that we have now has also 
grown dramatically. That presents challenges 
for us operationally and funding wise, but it 
makes us more responsive to our clients. 

LyNNE There is a significant impact on the 
way in which the organisation is structured 
and I think we’ve tried to be very careful about 
managing that growth in ensuring that we stay 
true to the original thinking with Foundation 
house. 

PARIS One of the other challenges for us 
has been dealing with the shifting nature of 
the client groups. In the last few years the pro-
portion of our clients who arrived as asylum 
seekers by boat and went through the detention 
system into the community, is exponentially 
bigger than it was before. Meeting that chal-
lenge has placed considerable pressures on us. 

LyNNE There is this critical generosity in the 
way in which this place operates, that is about 
making sure that the job gets done, and it’s not 
about the standing of the organisation itself.

PARIS Well that’s partly been our core 
mission. We knew that we would never be 
the organisation that saw every refugee, or 
that every refugee would want to come to this 
organisation, or that they would have in fact 
been tortured. But we knew that the refugee 
experience meant that if they needed some 
assistance, agencies around them would be 
better placed to provide that assistance if 
they understood it better. That’s why all of 
our schools-based resources, our training 
materials, anything we produce, the guide 
for GP’s and so forth, are freely available on 
our website or other sites that we share space 
with. That commitment to continually share 
our specialist expertise with others has been a 
real strength. 

LyNNE Something I think we are justly 
proud of.

PARIS I think one of the things we’ve done 
best as an organisation is hold on to our values 
and our principles. We’ve been prepared to 
examine information as it changes and facts 
as they are presented, and analyse them 
honestly. And where we’ve needed to, we’ve 
adapted how we go about our work. But we’ve 
always done it with the view to respecting and 
preserving those values and principles that 
were adopted from the outset. We’ve always 
sought to grow in the context of what our core 
mission is and objectives are. Our ability to 
adapt and be flexible and creative is another 
strength we’ve managed to develop, and that 
we need to maintain.

“I think one of the things we’ve done best as an organisation is hold on to our values 
and our principles. We’ve been prepared to examine information as it changes and 
facts as they are presented, and analyse them honestly.”

 > Foundation House chairperson Lynne Haultain and director Paris Aristotle.
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of separation, Milena was reunited with her 
twin sisters last year. Milena commenced Year 
10 in February 2010 and is now studying at 
MacKillop Catholic College in Werribee, where 
she has recorded outstanding marks. Milena is 
a very active contributor to the life of the school 
and to the community, juggling her studies 
with many extracurricular activities. Education 
is very important to Milena and she has dreams 

of becoming an obstetrician. 

Ms Katy
Katy is from Iran and arrived in 
Australia in 2010. In mid-2011, 
Katy completed an English language 
course for new arrivals and imme-
diately after enrolled in a Certificate 
IV in Information Technology at 
the Northern Metropolitan Institute 
of TAFE (NMIT). On completion, 
Katy hopes to enrol in an Advanced 
Diploma in Information Technology-
Network Security at NMIT. Her long-
term goal is to transfer to university 
to complete a Bachelor of Computer 
Science. Katy is 21 years old. 

the Portland House foundation and 
some individual donors generously 
support the grants. If you would like 
to support the quentin Buckle Study 
Grant by contributing funds on a 
one-off or ongoing basis, please call 

the foundation on (03) 9388 0022 or email 
info@foundationhouse.org.au

EaCH year, a select number of students 
from refugee backgrounds are awarded 

a quentin Buckle Study Grant to assist with 
their education needs as they build a new life 
in australia. 

The Premier of Victoria, The Hon Ted Baillieu 
MLA, announced the latest Quentin Buckle 
Study Grant recipients at the Foundation’s end 
of year celebration in December 2011. 

The Quentin Buckle Study Grant 
honours founding VFST committee 
member, the late Quentin Buckle. 
Quentin was a staunch supporter of 
human rights and advocated for social 
justice for all. 

Read on for a short biography of 
the 2011 Quentin Buckle Study Grant 
recipients. They all have big dreams 
and we wish them well in achieving 
their educational goals and more!

Ms Andleeb Aziz (Deeba)

Deeba is a young woman who came to 
Australia after fleeing persecution for 
her religious beliefs in her country of 
origin, Pakistan. She is still separated 
from her parents and siblings. Deeba 
has enrolled in Box Hill TAFE and is 
currently studying for a Certificate 
III in Business. Her goal is to finish 
TAFE and enrol at university in two 
years’ time. Despite her past traumas 
and the continuing stress of family separation, 
Deeba has shown great motivation to start a 
new life in Australia and has taken every oppor-
tunity presented to her to achieve her goals.

Mr Ali Mosawi

Ali came to Australia as an unaccompanied 
asylum seeker. Originally from Afghanistan, Ali 
was displaced in Pakistan with his family from 
the age of six. Throughout his formative years, 
Ali has had a very interrupted education. In 
2008, at the age of 15, Ali’s life was in immedi-
ate danger and he fled to Pakistan. He received 
his permanent protection visa in 2011. Ali is 
attending Footscray City College where he is 
studying VCE. The school’s welfare coordinator 
says Ali has obtained exceptional marks in most 
subjects, even achieving the highest mark in his 

English class one semester! Ali dreams of going 
to university so he can better support his family.

Ms Khadija Abdirahman

Khadija was born in Somalia and was separated 
from her mother at age two during the civil 
war, in which her father was killed. She lived 
in a refugee camp in Kenya for 18 years and 

was granted a humanitarian visa to travel to 
Australia when she was 20. Her mother and sib-
lings are still living in the refugee camp. Since 
arriving in Australia, Khadija has completed 
a Certificate III in Aged Care at New Futures 
Training in Coburg and the VCAL Foundation 
Program at the Northern Metropolitan Institute 
of TAFE (NMIT). Her goal is to be a nurse and 
she is currently studying a Certificate III in 
Health Sciences at Holmesglen TAFE.

Ms Milena Debesai Berhane

Seventeen-year-old Milena arrived in Australia 
as an onshore asylum seeker in September 
2009. Her family is originally from Eritrea. 
Her mother, a single parent, brought Milena 
and her younger brother to Australia and 
sought asylum. After more than two years 

– Supporters
•	 Portland House Foundation
•	 The Victorian Foundation for Survivors 

of Torture
•	 Avenues Education
•	 Austin School, Heidelberg
•	 Baltara
•	 Presbyterian Ladies College, Burwood
•	 St Monica’s College, Epping
•	 Stepping Stone
•	 Travencor
•	 Triple J ‘Real Appeal’

 > The Quentin Buckle Study Grant recipients, 2011. Back row, left 
to right: Ms Andleeb (Deeba) Aziz, Ms Milena Debesai Berhane, 
Ms Katy, Ms Khadija Abdirahman, Mr Ali Mosawi. Front row, left 
to right: The Premier of Victoria, The Hon Ted Baillieu MLA, Ms 
Genevieve Timmons, Director, Portland House Foundation, Ms 
Lynne Haultain, Chairperson, VFST Board of Management, Mr Paris 
Aristotle, Director, VFST.

refugee students benefit from study grants 
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particularly pleased to support the Foundation’s 
schools support program, which develops re-
sources and training for schools to assist stu-
dents from refugee backgrounds. “The impact 
of trauma on learning ability and general well-
being of students can be immense, and it’s vital 
that Victorian schools gain an understanding 
of the refugee experience and provide for both 
the education and wellbeing of students,” the 
Premier said. 

Mr Baillieu praised the more than 130 staff 
members at Foundation House, who pro-
vided services to more than 4,000 clients in 
2010–2011. “What makes Foundation House 
is people with exceptional talent and a com-
mitment to the common good: caring, decent, 
professional, hardworking, committed people 
making a difference.”

of Victoria, and held at Government House in 
December 2011. the award was presented by 
the Premier of Victoria, the Hon ted Baillieu 
MLa. 

THe PreMIer of VICtorIa, the Hon ted 
Baillieu MLa, was the special guest speaker 

at the foundation’s end-of-year celebration on 
15 December, 2011.

Mr Baillieu also launched the updated 
edition of School’s In for Refugees and presented 
the Quentin Buckle Study Grant Award recipi-
ents with their awards (see page 4).

Mr Baillieu spoke about the “welcoming 
opening arms” of Australians and Victorians to 
refugees and those who come seeking protec-
tion in Australia. 

Mr Baillieu also announced an additional 
$280,000 to help Foundation House pilot an 
expansion of specialised services in rural and 
regional areas for people from refugee back-
ground who have experienced torture and 
trauma.

“A significant number of new arrivals now 
settle in regional Victoria and we have to not 
only celebrate that, but indeed, make sure that 
we address the issues,” he said.

Mr Baillieu stated that his government was 

FounDatIon HouSe project coordina-
tor, Kath Cooney, was presented with a 

Victorian Multicultural award for excellence at 
a ceremony hosted by alex Chernov, Governor 

Premier speaks at foundation House end of year celebration

Together with the Australia Karen 
Organisation Education Committee, Kath was 
instrumental in setting up a Karen/English 
summer school in Werribee in 2008, where 
more than 100 volunteer tutors from the local 
area helped 350 people practise their English. 

The following year, Kath started a ‘get to 
know the city’ English program for Karen young 
people, as well as continuing the Werribee 
summer school. More than 100 Karen youth 
travelled each day to the Flinders Lane prem-
ises generously provided by City Cite, which 
was originally set up by Ballarat Grammar to 
provide a city experience for students. 

In 2012, with the support of the Red Cross, 
the City Cite Summer School was successfully 
opened up to all young people of refugee back-
ground who had recently arrived in Victoria. 
Foundation House is hoping to work with the 
Red Cross to expand the program for 2013. 

Foundation House is delighted that Kath’s 
dedication and support of the Karen commu-
nity has been recognised with this esteemed 
award.

foundation House worker receives award for excellence 

 > Premier of Victoria, the Hon Ted Baillieu MLA, presents Foundation House project coordinator 
Kath Cooney with a Victorian Multicultural Award for Excellence.

 > The Premier of Victoria, the Hon Ted 
Baillieu MLA, was the special guest speaker 
at the Foundation’s end-of-year celebration in 
December 2011.
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bilateral responses such as the Pacific Solution 
cannot effectively address the complex issues 
causing people to move. States need to work 
together to address the key drivers: insecurity 
and hardship where people find themselves, 

AuStraLIa has displayed some of the  
 be s t  a n d  w o r s t  e x a m p l e s  i n  t h e 

industrialised world of treating refugees and 
asylum seekers, according to richard towle, 
united nations High Commissioner for 
refugees (unHCr) regional representative 
for australia, new Zealand, Papua new Guinea 
and the Pacific. 

Mr Towle made this observation when deliv-
ering the 6th annual Foundation House oration 
in June, 2012. 

Mr Towle said the treatment of and acrimo-
nious debate about “boat people” had under-
mined Australia’s otherwise enviable reputation 
and record on refugee issues. The “uniquely 
Australian” term “queue jumping...was prob-
ably the most toxic and poisonous expression 
one could find to undermine the institution of 
asylum”, he said. Restrictive policies tried by 
Australia, such as mandatory detention and 
temporary protection visas, were being consid-
ered and replicated by other countries. 

On the positive side, Mr Towle praised the 
Australian Government’s and general pub-
lic’s substantial financial contribution to the 
UNHCR. Mr Towle also said the compact on 
resettlement programs between the Australian 
Government, refugee communities and service 
providers was “remarkable”. 

According to Mr Towle, unilateral and 

and lack of meaningful solutions. 
“If people can find safer and more dignified 

ways of stopping where they are they will not 
need to put their lives in the hands of unscru-
pulous smugglers,” Mr Towle said. 

Senior unHCr 
representative delivers 
oration

 > Richard Towle, UNHCR Regional Representative, presented director Paris Aristotle (left) and the 
Foundation’s Dr Ida Kaplan (middle) with a certificate “for outstanding contributions in support of 
refugees in Australia”. The certificate was presented at a staff professional development day in 
August 2011 to commemorate the occasion of the 60th Anniversary of the Refugee Convention.

 > End-of-year celebration, December 2011.

FounDatIon HouSe hosted a forum to 
discuss how refugee children and young 

people in Victoria are faring. 
Held in October 2011 at the Foundation 

House Brunswick office, the forum “unpacked” 
the key findings from the Refugee Status 
Report, which was launched by the Victorian 
Government in July 2011. The report exam-
ines the health, wellbeing, safety, learning and 
development of children and young people of 
refugee background living in Victoria. 

The Hon Nicholas Kotsiras MP, Minister 
for Multicultural Affairs and Citizenship, 

delivered the key address, while the University 
of Melbourne’s Dr Georgia Paxton spoke 
about the key findings in the Refugee Status 
Report under the three themes: Learning and 
Development, Health and Wellbeing, and 
Safety. 

Foundation House director, Paris Aristotle, 
also spoke about education, health and family 
service practitioners. 

The forum was an opportunity to show-
case good practice in supporting refugee chil-
dren and young people and identify future 
directions.

foundation House hosts forum on refugee children and young people 
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They are usually staged in Geneva, but 
with Australia assuming the Chair of the 
working group, we are proud to play host 
to such an important gathering of inter-
national experts in this field.” 

The theme for this year’s meeting 
was ‘One refugee resettled, many lives 
protected’, reflecting the importance of 
every resettlement place that governments 
can provide. Discussions included the 
challenges of the global displacement 
of millions of refugees and others in 
humanitarian need. 

Members of the Victorian Refugee 
Health Network, auspiced by Foundation 
House, and associated working groups, 
also participated in some events.

The closing reception at  the 
Foundation’s Brunswick site included a 
c i t izenship ceremony adjudicated 
by the Hon Senator  Kate Lundy, 
Parliamentary Secretary for Immigration 
and Multicultural Affairs, an indigenous 
smoking ceremony,  didgeridoo 
performance and entertainment by Soukas 
Ba Congo.

FounDatIon HouSe hosted a forum 
and the closing reception for the 

unHCr annual tripartite Consultations 
on resettlement/Working Group on 
resettlement (atCr/WGr), which was 
held in Victoria in february 2012. 

Delegates from resettlement countries 
around the world attended the four day 
event, which involved both public forums 
and closed working groups, to discuss 
international refugee resettlement ser-
vices. Delegates also visited the regional 
centres of Shepparton and Geelong.

The Minister for Immigration and 
Citizenship, Chris Bowen MP, delivered 
the welcome address. 

“This important meeting provides 
Australia—which consistently ranks 
among the top three refugee resettlement 
countries in the world—another opportu-
nity to share our settlement experiences 
and exchange best practice on supporting 
refugees with other countries,” Mr Bowen 
said. “Australia has been an active partici-
pant in these international meetings on 
refugee resettlement since the 1990s. 

 > From left to right: Ms Wei-Meng Lim-Kabaa, deputy director, 
Comprehensive Solutions, Department of International Protection, 
UNHCR; Paris Aristotle, director, Foundation House, the Hon Senator Kate 
Lundy, Parliamentary Secretary for Immigration and Multicultural Affairs.

 > Two Foundation House clients enjoy the festivities at the closing 
reception for the UNHCR Annual Tripartite Consultations on 
Resettlement/Working Group on Resettlement.

foundation House participates in international event on resettlement 

 > Guests at the UNHCR closing reception hosted 
by Foundation House were treated to a high voltage 
performance by Soukas Ba Congo.
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SALWAN AL-WASSITI is an Iraqi Muslim who 
lost her husband, 12-year-old son and 19-year-
old daughter in a targeted terrorist attack as 
the family was trying to flee Iraq for Syria. She 
and another son sustained serious injuries but 
survived the bomb blast. After eight months 
in bed and then moving from house to house 
in fear of terrorists, Salwan reunited with 
her sons in Syria and applied for asylum in 
Australia. Almost one year after the attack, 
Salwan arrived in Australia with her family. She 
credits her faith, art, and Foundation House 
with helping her recovery.

When I woke up I was on the street lying 
there and I felt like I was in a building sur-
rounded by concrete. All I was hearing was 
Hamad’s voice asking, “Mum, where are you? 
Mum where are you?” And I said to him, 
“Hamad, please come get me out.” And this 
is all I remember. When I woke a bit, I said to 
him, “Hamad, go check on your brothers.” The 
ambulance came to take me; I said, “Hamad, go 
and check on your brother and sister.” He said, 
“They all died, mum.” 

My husband, they couldn’t recognise him, 
his face was all gone. And the driver, his shoul-
ders were amputated and he was bleeding. And 
my cousin also, she was thrown away, far from 
the car.

I was at the hospital for a week. I had three 
places broken in my hip and a dislocated thigh. 
For a month and a half I stayed in Baghdad at 
my cousin’s house because she was very close 
to the hospital. And after that I went to my 
parents’ house and I was in bed all the time. I 
stayed there for nine months or so. I couldn’t 
eat, I had some problem with my stomach. So I 
went back to Baghdad and I was living on drips 
because I couldn’t eat at all. 

My two sons, the ones who left to Syria, they 
heard about the accident and they came back 
to Iraq. After the funeral their uncles in Kuwait 
said, “We will send them a visa. We’ll apply for 
them to come here,” because the boys used to 
live there. So I said, “Look, the terrorists will 
take advantage because they notice funerals, 
they will maybe attack you or something. You 
have to leave.” So I sent them one after another 
to Kuwait. 

While my two boys were in Kuwait they 
contacted the Australian embassy in Amman 
(Jordan) and they told them about their situa-
tion and what happened. They said, “My mum, 
she’s really having hard time and we’re worried 
about her and my youngest brother because 
we lost couple of family members.” And after 
that, in Kuwait they didn’t give them any perma-
nent residency; we call it ‘stateless’. So they left 
Kuwait; they went to Syria. 

There was no Australian embassy in Syria, 
but there was an office for refugees. 

At that time one of my sons contacted me; 
he said, “Mum, they’re asking for health tests.’ 
So I went Baghdad, to a hospital there, me and 
Hamad, we did all the tests they ask us to do. I 
was worried to go through Baghdad Airport as 
they might know about me, so I went to Basra, 
which is in south Baghdad, and then to Syria. 

a r t  f r o M  t H e  H e a r t  |  Salwan Al-Wassiti

“The painting was something inside me, something living with me. I put all my suffering into that art.”

“It’s just, talking…like having 
this conversation, is a bit of 

relief, even though sometimes 
I cry. At least I let it out instead 
of keeping it to myself, inside 

me. Just the feeling of someone 
caring for me and sharing what 

I have gone through,  
this is helpful.” —

 > Salwan Al-Wassiti and her painting: “7–3=4 
the rest of my family”. The mixed media piece 
(cloth, paper, beads) was exhibited in the 
2012 Heartlands Refugee Fine Art exhibition 
and received a special commendation from the 
judges. The artwork depicts the tragic story 
behind Salwan’s journey from Iraq to Australia. 

“We Were threatened because my son 
was working as an interpreter with 
the Australian coalition (army) at 

that time. Every day we used to get threatening 
letters. I asked my two eldest sons, Tariq and 
Rodan, to leave Iraq and they went to Syria. I 
said, “We will follow you after that.” 

“Even when we left I didn’t say to anyone, 
I didn’t mention even to my mum that we are 
leaving. Even when we had breakfast, we left 
everything, like all the mugs, and we left our 
city to go to Syria. Even my cousin, she said, 
“You have two cars. I think I will come with you 
to Syria”, so she came with us. We took some of 
our belongings, our clothes, some basic needs, 
but they knew that we were leaving, the terror-
ists. I was sitting with my cousin, behind my 
husband’s car, and my son Hamad was in the 
other car.

A bomb was thrown into the two rented cars, 
instantly killing Salwan’s husband, Sabeh, her 
12-year-son, Mishal, and 19-year-old daughter, 
Sarah.

I think it was a miracle Hamad survived 
because he was in the other car. Because I have 
some problems with my back, I was lying down 
in the car, and I put my head in my cousin’s lap. 
I wasn’t sleepy, but I can’t remember what hap-
pened after that; I just can’t remember.
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My boys stayed in Syria for six months and I 
stayed for two months. After two months, we 
were contacted and told we were granted a 
visa. For five days we were taught about the 

Australian lifestyle, culture and values, on a big 
screen. 

The accident was on 5 September 2007 and 
I entered Australia in November 2008. I am 

here with my three boys; one is in Sydney. I feel 
more secure, more safe, here in Australia. After 
I came, after two days, Foundation House con-
tacted me. I didn’t know anyone here so it was 
good for me to speak to them, to get everything 
out.

It’s just, talking to them, just like having 
this conversation, is a bit of relief, even though 
sometimes I cry. At least I let it out instead of 
keeping it to myself, inside me. Just the feeling 
of someone caring for me and sharing what I 
have gone through, this is helpful.

I didn’t know how to paint or draw. When I 
first started, I was like a little kid, I felt like I can’t 
do it. My friends and family, they say “Oh, we 
can’t believe you, you would never paint before. 
Where did this come from?’ I said, “Maybe it 
was inside me and now it’s coming out.” But 
maybe it’s just there; my daughter Machaeel, 
who lives in Germany, she is a good painter, 
and, even the one that passed away, Sarah, she 
was also very good with art.

I believe in God, even when the incident 
happened I was on the street, and when my 
son said to me, ‘Mum, all my brother and sister 
died,’ I said to him, ‘we are from God and we 
belong to him.’ But I was screaming because of 
the pain I was in.

My sons are doing well here; they don’t ever 
want to go back. They do feel connected to 
Kuwait, because they were born there and here 
they don’t have many friends, so that is missing, 
but otherwise they are doing well. 

I like to pray and do my prayer things, read 
the Qur’an, just try to be close to God as much 
as I can. And I have to believe that God, what he 
took from me, I think he’s got something else 
to give to me. I’m just asking that my children 
are healthy and safe, and to be good kids and to 
get married. 

I want to do a course in ceramics or drawing. 
Now at home when I draw a picture or a piece 
of art takes me just one hour, even the boys say, 
‘Oh mum, it’s amazing.’ And I enjoy it, I say 
to myself, ‘Where was I, away from this thing?’ 

Services like Foundation House and other 
services, they care about human beings, they 
always looked after me, so I’m really, really 
grateful to all of you.

Now I am practising driving and I want to 
buy a car. I went to the car dealer to buy for 
myself but ended up buying one for Hamad. 
He was very happy!” 

— as told to translator.

“After I came, after two days, Foundation House contacted me.  
I didn’t know anyone here so it was good for me to speak to them,  

to get everything out.” —
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SAMEER ZOORI was a well-known poet, 
calligrapher, artist and deacon in his native 
Iraq, where he also helped restore old 
churches and Christian artifacts. Following 
political changes in Iraq in 2003, Sameer, an 
Assyrian Christian, was targeted in an attack 
that resulted in the amputation of his right 
arm. He arrived in Australia in 2011 and, 
with the assistance of Foundation House, is 
looking forward to a brighter future.

P a I n t I n G  a  B e t t e r  f u t u r e  |  Sameer Zoori

“I like this country because there is no discrimination, no persecution.  
And there are people from all around the world living here. And they all live under the same law.”

“In 1970, I entered St John seminary in 
Iraq to become a priest where I studied 
for five years. Unfortunately, the semi-

nary was nationalised, then closed. I joined 
college to study carpentry where I also learnt 
architecture design. I was appointed as a teacher 
in the same college to teach design, but because 
Iraq was at war, I had to serve as a soldier for ten 
years during the Iraqi-Iranian war.

When I was discharged, I specialised in the 
Aramaic language and took part in many inter-
national language conferences. My calligraphy 
was very well-known among the community 
and all around the world. At the conferences, 
everyone admired my work. I was appointed as 
an Aramaic language researcher at the Eastern 
Cultural House and I was also appointed 
deacon to teach Aramaic in Iraqi churches and 
monasteries.

I had four surgeries to try and save my arm, 
but I developed gangrene and it could not be 
saved. I was scared for the life of my wife and 
daughters because Christians in Iraq were 
being persecuted.

Sameer fled Iraq with his wife and five 
daughters and applied to emigrate to Australia 
as a refugee. He arrived in 2011. 

All my brothers and sisters fled Iraq. Some, they 
are in America, some in Germany and some in 
Sweden, and I have a brother in Sydney. All 
my friends, clergy, even bishops, all around the 
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I have taken part in many exhibitions and 
there was one in Dandenong where I had lots of 
paintings. That was for Refugee Week. And there 
was a community one, like a big carnival, and I 
helped organise that and some poem nights. I 
read some of my poems to the community.

My art engages me and distracts me but 
the problem is sometimes with painting it’s a 
very fine art so to make a picture that is very 
fine and very nice, doesn’t come easily with the 
left hand, because I was right handed. It’s very 
delicate and it takes a lot of time and effort to 
manage with my left hand. Now I am trying to 
transfer the energy from my right hand to my 
left one.

I want to forget what happened to me so that 
I can produce more to this country, contribute 
more to this country. 

As long as I am strong, I will have a better 
future. All my daughters go to school, one is at 
AMES, and the rest are at high school; they will 
choose their future with my advice. And Claire is 
always around to support them with her advice.

I want to thank this country and its people, 
which opened its heart for me and my family 
and my community. I want to be a good citizen 
and serve Australia for the great support I and 
my family received.”

— as told to translator.

world, they keep in touch with me.
When I came to Australia I was assessed 

by people from the immigration department 
and through their assessment they said I 
was depressed and very affected by what hap-
pened to me. I felt very nervous, agitated and 
with deep depression, so they referred me to 
[Foundation House]. 

I am so lucky to be referred to the Foundation 
and Clare (Lincoln) looked after me. I am so 
happy with her service. I consider her a mother, 
not just to me, but to my whole house. And Dr 
Peter (McArdle), he has improved my health. 
Clare referred me to Caulfield Hospital for a 
prosthesis. They helped me a lot with an arti-
ficial arm so I can return to my ordinary activi-
ties, including painting. 

I am happy here [in Australia], I feel like I 
have a new life. I like this country because there 
is no discrimination, no persecution. And there 
are people from all around the world living 
here. And they all live under the same law.

Life can be hard, financially, renting, bills, 
too many bills, but I have tried to balance it and, 
you know, five daughters, lots of expenses! But 
with the great help of Claire and Dr Peter, that 
burden is a little bit lightened.

The language has been difficult, but I have 
completed my allocated hours and I’m trying to 

do more hours. I want to study at TAFE. I want to 
focus on my painting and to try and start teach-
ing Aramaic in my area. SCAAB (Springvale 
Community Aid and Advice Bureau) has also 
helped me and they are helping me find a place 
to teach the Aramaic language.

a  P r o u D  n e W  L I f e  I n  u n I f o r M  |  Saw David John
Saw David John (pictured below 
right with his younger brother Saw 
Jimmy John and Foundation House 
counsellor advocate Grace Lopez) was a 
Foundation House client in 2001–2003. 
Now 22, David has embraced all that 
his new life in Australia has offered, 
successfully completing his first three 
months training with the Australian 
Army. Of Karen background, David’s 
family was resettled in Australia 
because of human rights violations 
they experienced in Burma. Many of 
David’s relatives and neighbours were 
tortured and killed and the village 
in which he lived was attacked by a 
long-range rocket when he was just 
six months old. Grace recalls her first 
meeting with David all those years ago: 

“I remember David’s smile and bright 
eyes the most.  He loved to draw and 
write stories and during the period of 
time that I saw him he worked very 
hard to come to terms with some of 
the difficulties that he and his family 
experienced before their arrival to 
Australia. David always spoke very 
proudly about his Karen background 
and at the same time he embraced 

all that his new life 
had to offer and he 
had many Australian 
friends. David will no 
doubt continue to grow 
and be a source of 
inspiration for young 
people regardless of 
their background.”

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Annual Report 2011–2012
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best ways to undertake the research. 
Bi-cultural community researchers consulted 

with around 100 members of the Afghan com-
munity in South-East Melbourne and will com-
mence interviews in the latter half of 2012. 

The study is a partnership with the Healthy 
Mothers Healthy Families research group at the 
Murdoch Children’s Research Institute.

The key findings of the study were published 
in Riggs, E., et al. (2012). ‘Accessing Maternal 
and Child Health Services in Melbourne, 
Australia: Reflections from Refugee Families 
and Service Providers.’ BMC Health Services 
Research, 12(1): 117. Additional findings will be 
published in Riggs, E., et al. (2012). ‘Flexible 
Models for Learning English are Needed for 
Refugee Mothers (in press).’ Australian Journal 
of Adult Learning.

Asylum seekers’ experiences of 
immigration detention 

This study, to be completed in 2013, examines: 
•	 the psychological wellbeing of asylum 

seekers in immigration detention; 
•	 their responses to the detention 

environment; and 
•	 their experience of seeking asylum.  

The study involves more than 150 people 
referred to Foundation House from the 
Maribyrnong Immigration Detention Centre 
from 2008–2012.

This is only the second Australian study to 
examine a large sample of detained asylum 
seekers over time. Unlike the earlier research, 
this study aims to identify causes for changes in 
psychological wellbeing over time and the vari-
ables that shape the asylum seekers’ experience 
of detention. 

Having a baby in a new country

This study explores Afghan women’s and men’s 
experiences of care around the time of having a 
baby and aims to determine: 
•	 possible barriers to accessing services; 
•	 how maternity and early childhood health 

services can best respond to the needs of 
families of refugee background.  

This is a pilot study with people from one com-
munity and, subject to funding, Foundation 
House hopes to undertake further studies with 
other refugee background communities.

Unique to the research is the involvement of 
community members to define the issues they 
would like to see canvassed and identify the 

– Publications and 
resources 

FounDatIon HouSe continues to 
develop resources to enhance the 

understanding of the needs of survivors 
among health and other professionals, 
government and the wider community. 
recently produced publications 
encompass areas such as refugee health 
and wellbeing and school education 
resources. 

Our resources and publications are 
available on the Foundation House 
website for free download to ensure 
they are available to the widest possible 
audience. Publications can be viewed and 
downloaded under the Resources tab at 
www.foundationhouse.org.au 

HouseNotes, an electronic newsletter, 
is produced three times a year to give 
members, sector colleagues, funding 
bodies and supporters regular updates on 
the work of Foundation House. 

You can view the latest edition of 
HouseNotes, as well as all the latest 
Foundation House news, at  
www.foundationhouse.org.au

reSearCH anD PoLICy ProGraM
Promoting more responsive and accessible services

THe reSearCH and Policy program studies 
and promotes the health and wellbeing of 

people of refugee backgrounds. 
The program focuses mainly on the needs 

of young people and families of refugee back-
grounds and develops tools to improve the 
effectiveness of clinical services for survivors of 
torture and trauma. The populations of concern 
to the program include both people who have 
been granted permanent residence in Australia 
(mainly as entrants under the Humanitarian 
Program) and those whose application for resi-
dency have not yet been determined (asylum 
seekers). 

The program is financially supported pri-
marily by the Sidney Myer Fund and the 
William Buckland Foundation.

Recent and current projects include the 
following. 

Supporting the parenting needs of 
families with young children 

This completed study explored families from 
refugee backgrounds use of Maternal and Child 
Health (MCH) services. 

The study was conducted with 87 women 
from Assyrian Chaldean, Bhutanese, Iraqi, 
Karen, Lebanese and South Sudanese 
backgrounds. 

The study found that the MCH service was 
formally notified only of new parents of chil-
dren born in Australia, so new settlers with 
young children born overseas might not be 
linked in to services. 

The study also identified circumstances 
that made it difficult for parents to engage 
with MCH services; for example, appointment 
booking systems requiring mothers to leave 
voicemail messages is obviously difficult for 
those who are not very proficient in English.

The research also identified innovative 
service engagement strategies; for example, 
nurses working with bi-cultural workers to visit 
existing playgroups where mothers and chil-
dren already gather and feel comfortable. 

The project was conducted in partnership 
with the Jack Brockhoff Child Health and 
Wellbeing Program at the McCaughey Centre, 
University of Melbourne. 

http://www.survivorsvic.org.au
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canvassed included funding, awareness of 
interpreter services and the availability of equip-
ment to meet interpreting requirements. 

Following extensive consultation, Found-
ation House published the report in late 2012 
with recommendations to the Australian and 
Victorian Governments, service providers, 
training bodies and other key stakeholders. 

Tracking the educational progress of 
young people of refugee background

This project follows refugee background young 
people through six months of high school, 
asking them about their: 
•	 personal experiences;
•	 challenges and how they deal with them;
•	 cultural identity development; and 
•	 thoughts about their lives in general.  

Associate Professor Jeanette Lawrence and Ms 
Abi Brooker from the University of Melbourne’s 
School of Psychological Sciences are conduct-
ing the study. 

The team has interviewed 30 young people 
(20 of those a second time six months later). 
In the first interviews, the most common edu-
cational and social challenge for students was 
English. By their second interview, 50 per cent 
of students said their English language chal-
lenges had been reduced. 

Data collection has completed and initial 
findings have been published and presented. 

of engagement of young people from refugee 
backgrounds with mental health services. 

The literature review conducted for this 
has been accepted for publication by the 
International Journal of Culture and Mental 
Health, as “The Utilisation of Mental Health 
Services by Children and Young People from a 
Refugee Background: A Systematic Literature 
Review,” by Erminia Colucci et al.

Access to interpreters in health 
services

Foundation House clients often report that they 
are not being provided with a credentialed inter-
preter when accessing health care. This creates 
an obvious barrier to the quality of health care 
for many people with low English proficiency. 

Foundation House undertook a project to 
promote the engagement of credentialed inter-
preters in health consultations when required. 
In April 2012, Foundation House published 
a discussion paper identifying barriers to and 
facilitators of the engagement of credentialed 
interpreters in health settings. The issues 

In CoLLaBoratIon with associate Professor 
Jeanette Lawrence of Melbourne university, 

foundation House has developed and trialled 
two computer-assisted tools to assist research-
ers and counsellors to identify and track the 
wellbeing and worries of children from refugee 
backgrounds. 

These innovative computer programs assist 
children and young people to explore what they 
are feeling and thinking about critical personal 
and social aspects of their lives. Young partici-
pants work with animated scenarios, construct 
interactive diagrams and ratings, and show 
what they think pictorially and verbally. 

Drawing extensively on Dr. Ida Kaplan’s 
therapeutic work with refugee young people at 
Foundation House, a component titled ‘Living 
in Australia’ allows children to reflect upon and 
express what worries them. A revised version of 
the program is being trialled for use with older 
young people. 

A second component, ‘People and places in 
your life’, focuses on children’s wellbeing and 
the things that help. This program has found 
that some children focus mainly on social rela-
tions, some on computers or sport, and others 
enjoy being alone. Foundation House is cur-
rently developing a version for use with older 
young people.

The findings have been widely published 
and presented.

Young people and mental health 
services

Project TYRES: ‘Talking with Young Refugees 
about Experiences of Services’, asks young 
people (aged 18 to 25) from refugee backgrounds 
about their experiences with mental health ser-
vices. The project is being led by Foundation 
House researcher Madeleine Valibhoy. 

The project aims to elicit youth perspectives 
on “what works”, “what does not work” and how 
services can be improved. The study is due for 
completion during 2013 and findings will be 
shared with service providers, policy makers 
and researchers.

The study follows on from research conducted 
in 2010–2011, which looked at service provid-
ers’ perspectives on barriers to and facilitators 

tracking the wellbeing and worries of children and young people

–  Submissions 

 Research findings, published  
 articles and submissions can 
be accessed on the Foundation House 
website at www.foundationhouse.org.au 
(see Publications and Resources tab).

The Research and Policy Program prepared 
the following submissions either directly for 
Foundation House or as a member of the 
Forum of Australian Services for Survivors 
of Torture and Trauma (FASSTT).
•	 Submission to the Australian Government 

consultation on ‘Australia’s Humanitarian 
Program: 2012–13 and beyond’.

•	 Submission to the ‘Access and Equity 
Inquiry into the Responsiveness of 
Australian Government Services to 

Australia’s Culturally and Linguistically 
Diverse Population’. 

•	 Submission to the Victorian Government 
on its ‘Action Plan to Address Violence 
against Women and their Children’. 

•	 Submission to the Joint Standing 
Committee on ‘Treaties Inquiry into 
Ratification of the Optional Protocol to 
the Convention against Torture and Other 
Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment 
or Punishment’. 

–

http://www.foundationhouse.org.au
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ManaGInG DIreCtor and Ceo of  
australia Post, Mr ahmed fahour, 
speaks about the many benefits of his 

organisation’s partnership with ucan2.
“We have a fantastic partnership with 

Ucan2 that has business benefits as well 
as much broader social benefits. For these 
young people, many of whom have only 
recently sought asylum in Australia, being 
placed in a workplace environment is an 
ideal opportunity for them to immerse 
themselves into the local culture and 
community.

“For our business, these young people 
have filled an urgent labour need at our 
busiest operational period—and many of 
them have since graduated to full-time roles 
with us—or elsewhere. For the employees 
who’ve mentored or worked alongside these 
young people, it has provided them with 
leadership experience and an opportunity 
to give back to the community in a tangible 
way.

“Due to the obvious success of our 2009 
foundation partnership, we were compelled 

to get behind the program in a more 
substantial way by committing $400,000 
in funding over the next two years, as well 
as providing up to 40 mentored positions in 
our workforce by 2014.”

–
community, health, family services and education 
sectors, and includes background information 
about understanding the refugee experience and 
the impact of trauma on learning, development 
and wellbeing, to support those who work in and 
with schools.

At the start of 2012, we commenced working 
with the Catholic Education Office to develop a 
family engagement strategy to increase the partici-
pation of parents and carers of refugee background 
children in Catholic schools across Melbourne. 

Ucan2: Corporate partnership and 
participant experiences 
In 2011–2012, Ucan2 delivered programs in 
12 sites across metropolitan Melbourne with 

more than 250 participants. Work experience 
and part-time work opportunities continue to 
grow for young people of refugee backgrounds 
with the ongoing support of many corporate 
supporters, including Coles, Woolworths, 
K-Mart, the Reject Shop and Australia Post. 

Australia Post has supported the Ucan2 
program since 2009 and has established a 
two-year sponsorship arrangement to aid 
mentoring and employment opportuni-
ties for Ucan2 participants. Through this 
support, Ucan2 will be able to provide 100 
young people with access to a mentor from 
Australian businesses for 12 months and 
access to about 100 part-time employment 
opportunities every year. 

SerVICe InnoVatIon ProGraM
Strengthening partnerships with schools, families and communities 

THe SerVICe InnoVatIon ProGraM 
(SIP) continues to deliver a number of 

programs and services to support young people 
who are newly arrived to australia through its 
ucan2 project, Schools Support Program and 
refugee action network strategy. the SIP’s 
family Strengthening strategy, which engaged 
communities and agencies in the process of 
addressing issues impacting on refugee back-
ground families, concluded in June 2012.

In 2011–2012, we:
•	 expanded the delivery of the Ucan2 program;
•	 consolidated our Schools Support program 

in partnership with the Department 
of Education and Early Childhood 
Development: and 

•	 began development on a new strategy aimed 
at addressing service literacy and access for 
people of refugee backgrounds. 

Ucan2

In 2011–2012, Ucan2 delivered programs to 
more than 250 young people across metropoli-
tan Melbourne, a goal we established in 2010. 
This significant achievement reflects the deter-
mination of the Ucan2 team and the partner 
organisations (the Centre for Multicultural 
Youth and AMES) to provide broad mental 
health, educational and social support to young 
people from refugee backgrounds. 

Schools Support Program

The Schools Support Program provided con-
sultancy support to 36 schools across Victoria 
through the five refugee action networks, 
responding to requests from schools and via 
the ongoing production of resources and ma-
terials. In fact, 2514 teachers and school-based 
professionals took part in learning and pro-
fessional development provided through the 
program in 2011–2012. 

The much anticipated second edition of 
School’s In for Refugees: A whole-school approach 
to supporting students of refugee backgrounds was 
launched in December 2011 by the Premier 
of Victoria, the Hon Ted Baillieu MLA (see 
page 5). The second edition has been produced 
in consultation with teachers and others in the 

“Work experience and part-time work opportunities continue to grow 
and be made available to young men and women from refugee 
backgrounds…”

 > Mr Ahmed Fahour, managing director  
and CEO, Australia Post.
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At 14, Iraqi-born Janat Al-ali spent eight days 
in Syria waiting to board a flight to Abu Dhabi 
in the Arab Emirates. She arrived in Australia 
with her mother, two brothers and three 
sisters in March, 2011. She had not seen her 
father, who was already in Australia, for three 
years. The Hume Central Secondary College 
student tells us about her early perceptions 
of Australia and her experience with the 
Foundation’s Ucan2 program.

What did you think about Australia when you 
first arrived?
It was good, but I miss my family and my 
friends. I miss that so much. The weather, 
the people—they are all good here. I like the 
weather; it is colder here than in Iraq. The 
people are all lovely. There is nothing I didn’t 
like. It is very different from Iraq. Everything 
is different, especially the language and 
communication.

What is your educational background?
I finished Year 8 and then I was studying Year 
9 when my visa came and I came to Australia. I 
went to a language school for four terms. At the 
start of 2011, I came to Hume Central.

Janat was part of a transition class of 
students who had recently exited the local 
English Language School and enrolled at 
Hume Central Secondary College. Like most 
other students in this class, she was new to 
Australia and of refugee background, which 
meant she qualified to participate in the 
Ucan2 program. 

What was your favourite part of the Ucan2 
program?
My favourite part was work experience. It was 
very good. I also liked meeting new people. And 
the best part was the excursion to St. Kilda. So 
many things! The greatest part was work expe-
rience at Coles Glenroy.

What did you learn?
I learnt it is easy to meet new people. I was 
afraid to talk to anyone, because my English is 
not very good. Now it is easy to talk to anyone, 
and they don’t laugh. It has helped me for my 
future, and I look for good things for my future. 
I hope to be a pharmacist; it is my dream and I 
must work hard. 

What do you think your classmates got out of 
the Ucan2 program?
I think all my classmates enjoyed the work ex-
perience and meeting new people, and learn-
ing new English skills. It helps new people to 
enjoy new life and to look for opportunities. 
There are many opportunities in Australia, 
but we don’t know how to use it. Ucan2 helps 
a lot with these things. It helps you to use 
opportunities. 

“Ucan2 was like my family”
Albert Mambo, 20, was born in Sudan and 
lived most of his life in Uganda prior to coming 
to Australia in January, 2012. He participated 
in Ucan2 at Dandenong AMES and now 
volunteers in the program. 

Albert is studying IT at TAFE to improve 
his language and technology skills, prior to 
enrolling in a nursing diploma. His ambition is 
to eventually become a doctor. 

Albert breaks into a smile whenever he 
talks about Ucan2.

“Ucan2 was like my family. It was where I got 
a lot of help; with my language skills, to meet 
people from different cultures and backgrounds 
and with some of my problems. It helped me 
with work experience and to create networks 
for my future and happiness in Australia. Now 
I volunteer in Ucan2 and I am looking forward 
to working at Australia Post later in the year.”

From Iraq to Hume Central: a young student’s journey

 > Janat Al-ali’s smile captures the joy of her 
first-ever visit to the beach.

“I learnt it is easy to meet new 
people. I was afraid to talk to 
anyone, because my English  
is not very good. Now it is easy to 
talk to anyone…”

The Ucan2 program provides support to young people (16–24 years) who are newly arrived 
to Australia and from a refugee background as they make their way through the post-
compulsory school, training and tertiary sectors.

 > Albert Mambo volunteers in the Ucan2 program. 
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combination of herbal relaxants and physi-
cal activity can help the body to ‘let go’ into a 
restful state at night.

Massage can also promote sleep by reducing 

CoMPLeMentary 
tHeraPIeS
Helping our clients deal 
with trauma 

HerBaL MeDICIne, dietary guidance, 
massage therapy and shiatsu, are just 

some of the Complementary therapies (Ct) 
available at foundation house. 

CT clients can access traditional medicines 
to improve their health as well as relieve and 
manage trauma symptoms. The CT service 
aims to provide clients with a safe space to 
acknowledge and pay particular attention to the 
impact of the refugee experience on the body 
and the mind/body connection. In 2011–2012, 
the CT service helped 304 clients referred by 
counselor-advocates and Foundation House 
mental health clinic practitioners. 

In September 2011, the CT team was pleased 
to expand into the newly established Sunshine 
office. This complements existing CT services 
in Brunswick, Dandenong and Ringwood. 

In January 2012, the Brunswick office 
welcomed physiotherapist Lester Jones, who 
joined the team on a pro-bono basis. Lester 
works from a biopsychosocial perspective (that 
is, the belief that health is best understood as 
a combination of biological, psychological and 
social factors, rather than purely in biologi-
cal terms). This approach lends itself well to 
refugee health and treatment of body pain.

CT and insomnia

Insomnia is a common reason for CT referral, 
with clients frequently reporting many months 
or years of disturbed sleep. This may stem from 
a traumatic event or period, such as being held 
in appalling prison conditions. Ongoing physi-
cal pain and tension, distress about family in 
danger overseas and nightmares, can all com-
pound and perpetuate insomnia. 

For some people, preparing a tea in the 
evening from a prescribed blend of medici-
nal herbs creates a positive relaxation ritual. 
Certain herbal medicines act as gentle, non-
addictive nervous system relaxants or seda-
tives. Advice to clients often includes avoid-
ance of caffeine and other stimulants, and 
encouragement to undertake physical activ-
ity such as brisk walks or swimming. The 

anxiety and increasing feelings of relaxation for 
the body and mind. Remedial massage can be 
of significant benefit where musculoskeletal 
pain or physical tension are barriers to sleep.– Refugee Mental Health Director visits 

Foundation House

AMBER GRAY, the Refugee Mental 
Health Director at New Mexico 

Department of Health in Santa Fe, visited 
Foundation House in August 2011 to 
meet with staff and discuss her approach 
to working with torture and trauma. 
Amber was in Australia to run workshops 
on body-centred and movement-based 
therapy for health professionals. She was 
particularly impressed by the CT program 
at Foundation House, noting that it was 
unique to offer therapies such as massage 
and herbal medicine in a torture and trauma 
organisation.

Amber met with 15 counsellor-advocates, 
managers and others to discuss somatic, 

complementary and creative arts therapies 
for survivors of war and torture. Specific 
topics included: 
•	 the challenges of providing a therapeutic 

response with high numbers of survivors 
in catastrophic contexts;

•	 the unique needs of cross-cultural 
therapies with survivors;

•	 how current research increasingly 
endorses the use of these therapies for 
work in trauma contexts. 

The meeting provided an opportunity to 
share and ‘cross-pollinate’ ideas, theories, 
research and practical application of 
these therapies and the unique work of 
Foundation House.

 > A selection of herbs dispensed by naturopaths at Foundation House for making medicinal teas.
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FounDatIon HouSe provided direct  
services to 3168 survivors of torture and 

trauma in 2011–2012. these services were deliv-
ered under two main programs: the Generalist 
program and the Detention program. 

The Generalist program assists clients who 
are permanent residents of Australia and need 
assistance with problems resulting from their 
torture and trauma experiences. It is funded by 
the Victorian Department of Human Services 
(DHS) and the Commonwealth Department 
of Health and Ageing (DoHA) Program of 
Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma 
(PASTT). The Generalist program includes 
asylum seekers who have not received services 
under the Detention program and are funded 
by DHS. 

The Detention program is for people in an 
immigration detention centre or in communi-
ty detention, and is funded by the Department 
of Immigration and Citizenship. 

Direct services in both programs include:
•	 psycho-educative information and provision 
•	 comprehensive assessments of 

psychological and social functioning 
•	 referral and facilitated access to 

mainstream and other services
•	 group programs; 
•	 individual and family counselling 
•	 co-joint assessment and interventions 

with community liaison workers from the 
Capacity Building Team (CaB)

•	 client advocacy
•	 complementary therapies
•	 specialist mental health clinic services.

Direct services to clients are integrated with 
our work in training and professional devel-
opment, service innovation, health promotion 
and research and policy.

Collaborative work with other agencies is 
a key feature of direct services work. There 
has been an expansion of service providers 
in the asylum seeker sector who work with 
people who are, or have been, in immigration 

detention. This has meant an increase in the 
workforce now responding to the needs of 
people seeking protection in Australia.

Client profile

The Foundation’s clients come from more than 
50 countries (see Table 1 on page 18). The top 
four countries of origin are Iraq, Afghanistan, 
Burma (Myanmar) and Iran. This reflects the 
national origins of entrants under Australia’s 
Humanitarian Program. 

Client needs

Table 3 (on page 18) shows the range of ser-
vices provided to clients in 2011–2012 and in-
dicates that counselling takes up the highest 
proportion of direct service time. 

Table 4 (on page 18) shows the medical and 
social/living needs of our clients as identified 
during assessment. It indicates that the vast 
majority of clients in both programs require 
general medical assistance. 

The most common social/living issues for 
adult clients relate to significant concern for 
family overseas, immigration sponsorship, em-
ployment, financial circumstances and housing. 

The most common need for the under-18 
age group also relates to significant concern 
for family members overseas. This is followed 
by immigration sponsorship.

The most notable difference between clients 
in the Generalist program and the Detention 
program is that more minors in the detention 
program were assessed as showing significant 
concern for family members overseas. This is 
consistent with the fact that a higher propor-
tion of those minors are separated from im-
mediate family members. 

Client experiences

Our clients have experienced many traumatic 
events prior to their arrival in Australia, which 
has affected their health and settlement. Table 

5 (on page 19) shows the percentage frequency 
of violence and hardship experienced. Notably, 
young people have had a very high degree of ex-
posure to witnessing violence and experiencing 
loss.

The needs and presenting problems of clients 
are complex because their experiences of torture, 
trauma and systemic persecution are typically 
repeated over long periods of time. The cumula-
tive nature of traumatic experiences cannot be 
captured in the quantitative data, however a con-
sideration of the countries from which clients 
come indicates the long-term nature of conflict 
and human rights violations. Many children and 
young people have not known security and sta-
bility until their arrival in Australia. 

Future challenges 

Responding to the ‘newly arrived’ 

The past year was characterised by a higher 
number of people who have been in detention 
for protracted periods. The torture and trauma 
experience for these people has been com-
pounded by the deleterious effects of detention. 
Perilous boat journeys have added to people’s 
trauma. Interventions have responded to the 
impact of those experiences and the ongoing 
effects of family separation and concern for 
family members still living in danger. 

Responding to ‘older communities’

Demographics regarding country of origin 
show that somewhat ‘older’ communities, such 
as the Sudanese, show a fall in the numbers 
receiving client services. This could reflect 
reduced need as settlement progresses and 
capacity-building strategies are implemented. 
It may also indicate reduced participation as 
“newer” communities emerge. This highlights 
the continual challenge of ensuring respon-
siveness to new communities emerge, while 
maintaining outreach to more established 
communities.

DIreCt SerVICeS
our work with survivors

“…a consideration of the countries from which clients come indicates the long-term nature of 
conflict and human rights violations. Many children and young people have not known security and 
stability until their arrival in Australia.” 
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DIreCt SerVICeS
Data
 > TABLE 1: COUNTRY OF ORIGIN OF VFST 

CLIENTS IN 2011–2012

COUNTRy OF ORIGIN GENERALIST DETENTION

Afghanistan 389 109

Bhutan 72

Bosnia and Herzegovina 19

Burma (Myanmar) 373 2

Burundi 19

Cambodia 36

Congo 45

Congo, Democratic Republic of 20

Egypt 15

Eritrea 31

Ethiopia 167

Guinea 14

Iran 320 193

Iraq 467 57

Kenya 11

Kuwait 8 9

Liberia 18

Malaysia 10

Nigeria 10 5

Other 31 4

Pakistan 53 5

Sierra Leone 10

Somalia 48 2

Sri Lanka 86 71

Sudan 132 1

Syria 10

Thailand 59

Turkey 31 1

Uganda 15

Vietnam 14 6

Other** 143 5

Total 2698 470

Notes : For children born in Australia (n=22), the country of 
origin of their parent(s) is listed.
GENERALIST = Refers to all clients receiving services from 
the VFST except for those who received services under the 
Detention Program.
DETENTION = Refers to those clients who were seen 
under the VFST Detention Program, i.e. people who spent 
some time during the 2011–2012 year in an immigration 
detention centre or community detention.
Other **37 countries with less than 10.

 > TABLE 2: VFST CLIENTS BY AGE, GENDER AND PROGRAM 2011–2012

 GENERALIST NATURAL THERAPIES MENTAL HEALTH CLINIC DETENTION

 FEMALE MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE MALE

0–10 years 145 123 3 1 2 6 5 11

11–20 years 238 335 5 12 15 20 5 118

21–30 years 239 292 29 16 15 43 21 123

31–40 years 226 306 52 31 44 45 24 91

41–50 years 163 194 44 27 44 38 9 48

51–60 years 112 93 43 23 30 29 3 10

61+ years 49 59 12 4 6 10 2

Total 1172 1402 188 114 156 191 67 403

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

MEDICAL

Dental
DETENTION 18 4
GENERALIST 27 17

General Practitioner
DETENTION 54 33
GENERALIST 80 74

Optometry
DETENTION 2 2
GENERALIST 12 10

Specialist 
DETENTION 7 9
GENERALIST 16 30

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

MEDICAL cont.

Specialist Psychiatry
DETENTION 2 5
GENERALIST 1 8

 

SOCIAL LIVING DIFFICULTIES

Child Protection
DETENTION 0 0
GENERALIST 3 2

Employment
DETENTION NA* 26
GENERALIST 6 29

 > TABLE 4: NEEDS AND PROBLEMS OF VFST CLIENTS 2011–2012 

 > TABLE 3: TYPES OF ASSISTANCE PROVIDED TO VFST CLIENTS 2011–2012

REFERRAL OUT

REFERRAL INTAKE

REPORT WRITINGREPORT WRITING

OTHER

ASSESSMENT

ADVOCACY

ACCOMPANIED
APPOINTMENT

55%

9%
16%

2%

9%

4%
1%
1%

COUNSELLINGCOUNSELLING

CASE 
CONFERENCING

CASE 
CONFERENCING

REFERRAL OUT

REFERRAL INTAKE
OTHER

ASSESSMENT

ADVOCACY

0%: ACCOMPANIED APPOINTMENT

9%
24%

1%

4%

3%
1%

2%
3%

57%

Hours % of Direct Service time

DETENTION GENERALIST
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 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

SOCIAL LIVING DIFFICULTIES cont.

Family Breakdown
DETENTION 21 15
GENERALIST 13 13

Financial: Income Support
DETENTION 10 22
GENERALIST 18 29

Financial: Other
DETENTION 17 21
GENERALIST 18 29

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

SOCIAL LIVING DIFFICULTIES cont.

Higher Qualifications Not Recognised
DETENTION 2 2
GENERALIST 1 8

Housing
DETENTION *NA 22
GENERALIST 23 30

Immigration (Sponsorship)
DETENTION 51 43
GENERALIST 35 41

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

SOCIAL LIVING DIFFICULTIES cont.

Major Illness or Handicap
in the Family
DETENTION 14 8
GENERALIST 13 19

Mental Illness
DETENTION 6 3
GENERALIST 23 13

School Attendance
DETENTION 22 8
GENERALIST 12 21

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

SOCIAL LIVING DIFFICULTIES cont.

Significant Concern for 
Family Overseas
DETENTION 65 48
GENERALIST 50 60

Since Arrival, Death of a Close 
Relative or Friend
DETENTION 3 5
GENERALIST 6 8
 
*Not applicable (NA) because clients 
are not eligible to work and receive 
accommodation in detention.

 

 > TABLE 5: VFST CLIENTS’ EXPERIENCE OF TORTURE AND TRAUMA 2011–2012 

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)

PHYSICAL VIOLENCE

Severe Beating
DETENTION 14 40
GENERALIST 3 27

Combatant
DETENTION
GENERALIST 0 3

Electric Shock
DETENTION  3
GENERALIST 0 2

Genital Mutilation
DETENTION  1
GENERALIST 0 0

Other
DETENTION 18 11
GENERALIST 6 7

Rape
DETENTION  9
GENERALIST 1 5

Sexual Assault other than Rape
DETENTION  1
GENERALIST 0 4

Under Combat Fire
DETENTION 11 7
GENERALIST 10 19

Damage to Teeth
DETENTION  1
GENERALIST 0 2

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)
HARDSHIP

In Hiding
DETENTION 4 5
GENERALIST 19 28

Internal Displacement
DETENTION 7 9
GENERALIST 16 21

Lack of Food or Water
DETENTION 7 6
GENERALIST 27 30

Lack of Shelter
DETENTION 4 6
GENERALIST 22 26

Refugee Camp
DETENTION  4
GENERALIST 25 26

PSYCHOLOGICAL VIOLENCE

Dangerous Flight
DETENTION 58 62
GENERALIST 50 66

Detention of Family or Friends
DETENTION 2 19
GENERALIST 17 25

Disapearance of Family Members
DETENTION 23 15
GENERALIST 24 31

Forced Separation from Family
DETENTION 40 43
GENERALIST 37 57

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)
PSYCHOLOGICAL VIOLENCE cont.

House Raided
DETENTION 15 10
GENERALIST 11 28

Kidnapping
DETENTION 4 4
GENERALIST 4 7

Missing
DETENTION 10 12
GENERALIST 24 23

Solitary Confinement
DETENTION 2 4
GENERALIST 2 12

Subject to Mock Executions
DETENTION  2
GENERALIST 5 11

Threat of Harm to Family
DETENTION 56 52
GENERALIST 58 73

Witnessing Others Killed
DETENTION 33 19
GENERALIST 10 32

Witnessing Physical Violence
DETENTION 40 39
GENERALIST 35 66

Witnessing Physical Violence 
to Family/Friends
DETENTION 23 25
GENERALIST 21 47

 0–17 18+  
 yEARS yEARS
 (% frequency  
 at assessment)
DETENTION

Detention: Concentration Camp
DETENTION 0 1
GENERALIST 0 3

Detention: Home Detention
DETENTION 0 0
GENERALIST 0 0

Detention Centre: Australia
DETENTION 79 88
GENERALIST 14 18

Legally Sentenced: Prison Term
DETENTION 0 1
GENERALIST 0 3

Summary (illegal) Detention
DETENTION 4 9
GENERALIST 1 9

 

LOSSES (average score)

Forced Separation**
DETENTION 10 14
GENERALIST 8 13

Non War Related Loss *
DETENTION 2 2
GENERALIST 1 2

War Related Loss
DETENTION 8 9
GENERALIST 7 16
 
*10 is equivalent to a death of a parent 
for a young child or death of a child for a 
parent.
**10 is equivalent to a separation from a 
parent for a young child or separation from 
a child for a parent.
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vision for 
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 > John Gibson was one of a small 
group of people who met in 1986 to 
discuss the possibility of setting up 
an organisation that would provide 
specialist services to survivors of 
torture and trauma. 

John literally drew a detailed outline 
of his vision with pen on paper. In 
this, the year of the Foundation’s 
25th anniversary and sadly, of John’s 
death, his ‘flowchart’ has taken on a 
particular significance. 

Director Paris Aristotle says: “The 
themes of working in partnership, 
being connected to a broader 
human rights movement, to refugee 
communities themselves and different 
professional disciplines, is embedded 
in the way in which we’ve worked all 
along. John’s remarkable drawing is 
emblematic of his ability to grasp a 
wide range of issues, potential players 
and participants, and map it out for 
people.” 

As our inaugural chairman, John’s 
vision, skilled leadership and fierce 
dedication, provided a solid basis 
for the development of Foundation 
House into an organisation respected 
domestically and internationally. 
His imprint on our work and how we 
operate will remain with us always.
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Strategies 

In 2011–2012, the CaB team has continued to 
progress strategies to increase awareness and 
understanding amongst Foundation House 
staff and other service providers regarding the 
needs of each of the communities.

Priority has also been placed on assisting 
communities to link in with relevant services 
that may be new or unfamiliar to them via the 
CLW’s participation in a wide range of regional 
networks (e.g. settlement support, interfaith, 
domestic violence etc.) involving multiple agen-
cies from diverse sectors. 

THe CaPaCIty BuILDInG team (CaB) 
is made up of seven community liaison 

workers (CLWs) of Karen, assyrian/Chaldean, 
Chin, afghan and Sierra Leonean backgrounds, 
as well as a co-ordinator and a manager. Most 
workers cover more than one region in order to 
reach out to communities that are often spread 
across municipalities. 

The team was established in February 2008 
to strengthen Foundation House’s engagement 
with a number of newly-arrived communi-
ties. The employment of bi-cultural workers 
from those communities was seen as a means 
of bridging the connection and communica-
tion between Foundation House and those 
communities.

The CaB team operates with a three-pronged 
approach to its capacity building role. This in-
cludes capacity building with:
1. Refugee communities;
2. Service-providers;
3. Internally within Foundation House.

The work of the CaB team includes commu-
nity engagement, networking, co-facilitation of 
groups, leadership support and development, 
co-joint direct service work with Foundation 
House counsellor advocates, community con-
sultation, co-joint community education presen-
tations, and co-joint work with the Foundation 
House Family Strengthening project and the 
Service Innovation Program (SIP).

Outcomes

Having come from the refugee communities 
themselves, the CLW’s presence has increased 
the engagement and sense of connection 
between the newly-arrived communities they 
represent and Foundation House. This strong 
bridging role and trust established through the 
connection with Foundation House has also led 
to an increased confidence in the various com-
munities’ ability to connect with other services. 

New projects

The following are just two examples of the 
diverse projects managed and facilitated by the 
CaB team. 

Karen community: In 2012, the team 
commenced work on the Strengthening 
Relationships Project, which aims to address 
the intergenerational gaps that exist as a result 
of resettlement. This project is an extension 
of the ‘nib project’ (an 18-month pilot project 
focusing on the health and wellbeing of Karen 
young people), providing opportunity for a 
sharing of the hopes and challenges experi-
enced in resettlement, as well as exploring 
areas of tension between young people and 
community elders.

Afghan community: The Afghan CLW has 
supported community advisors from the Family 
Strengthening Advisory Group to deliver a 
number of community information sessions 
focused on domestic violence. The sessions, 
which were delivered via community radio, in 
a local community kitchen, at a larger mixed 
gender forum and men’s group, has meant a 
‘taboo’ issue in the community is now being 
discussed more openly.

 > The Assyrian Chaldean Women’s Friendship Group meets every fortnight to discuss issues 
such as grief and loss, parenting, relationships, budgeting, health and wellbeing. The group 
is co-facilitated by Anglicare (Broadmeadows) and Foundation House through the Assyrian 
Chaldean community liaison worker (CLW). With many participants having lost partners as 
a result of war, and many in Australia without extended families, the group has become a 
valuable social outlet for the women.  

CaPaCIty BuILDInG teaM
Working with newly-arrived communities

 > From left to right: Salam Danka, Reginald 
Shwe, Najla Naier, Susie Strehlow (coordinator), 
Moses Chitlu Wyn. Not pictured: Mardi Stow 
(manager), Dina Korkees, Thomas Mung and 
Andrew Kalon.
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A GrouP of Karen young people came 
together in 2011 to develop a series of 

music videos and short films focusing on harm 
reduction and health promotion messages. 

The Engaging Youth project promotes the 
health and wellbeing of young Karen (Burmese) 
Australians of refugee background. 

It is funded by the nib Foundation (which has 
also funded the Strengthening Relationships 
arm of the project, see page 22) and, in partner-
ship with the New Hope Foundation and Open 
Family Australia, Foundation House has led the 
group of musically talented young people and 
local service providers to develop a number of 
key projects. 

The young participants, who all live in the 
City of Wyndham, wrote, composed and sang 
all the songs on their ‘Get Ready’ DVD, which 
was officially launched at an event in August, 
2012. The group also wrote, directed, filmed, 
edited and acted in a series of short films.

Project Coordinator Thuy Nguyen believes 
that young people around the world share 
similar strengths and challenges. “Isolation, 
struggles with school or work, intergenerational 
gaps within families and difficult life deci-
sions can affect many young people,” she says. 
“The use of alcohol and other drugs are often 
used as an escape, which can lead to harmful 
consequences.” 

Music and film are considered an ideal 
medium with which to connect young people: 

by writing lyrics, creating a melody or telling a 
story behind the lens of a camera, individuals 
can find alternate ways to express feeling and 
ease pain. 

As well as developing connections and friend-
ships, the Engaging Youth project also created a 
safe space for settlement and community workers 
and drug and alcohol counsellors to discuss with 
the young people how they can minimise harm if 
using alcohol and/or other drugs. 

The project also connected the young 
people with film production professionals, 
who were able to offer their expertise and 

experience in making music videos.
Thuy says she and others at Foundation 

House have witnessed firsthand how the project 
has reached out and affected some at-risk young 
people. The group worked together seamlessly 
to make positive decisions and connect with 
each other, and will leave a legacy in music and 
film for other young people who are struggling 
with similar life challenges.

The four music videos produced by the group 
(The Pastor, Bad Son, Unaccompanied Child and 

Get Ready) can be found on YouTube. Type in 
MKY Karen (Melbourne Karen Youth) to view.

Health and wellbeing project engages Karen youth

 > The talented Karen young people who 
participated in the Engaging Youth project.

 > Two members of the Engaging Youth project 
working group.

“…young people around the world share similar strengths  
and challenges.”
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THrouGH tHe SuPPort of foundation 
House volunteer Margaret Wehl and regular 

classroom assistance from Helen Hanrahan 
and anne Hayman (all retired teachers), we 
continued to offer an english language class at 
our Brunswick office every friday throughout 
2011–2012.

Over the past two decades, Margaret 
has assisted clients from a broad range of 
backgrounds (including South and Central 
American, Iranian, Eritrean, Sudanese, 
Burmese etc.), reflecting the origin of entrants 
under Australia’s Humanitarian Program, and 
thus the Foundation’s shifting client base.

Says Margaret, “Numbers in class vary 
widely: some students attend for months, even 
years, as they wait for visas, some attend only 
intermittently as health and family problems 
permit, and sometimes people like to return 
and join in as they found our group less intimi-
dating than large, formal classes, and enjoy so-
cialising over lunch.” 

“Friendships have grown between students 
and once, quite a long time ago, I found out 
that, unknown to me, one lonely man had pro-
posed to all the younger women in the class— 
unsuccessfully I’m afraid!

“Since early 2012, a larger group of Nepali-
speaking Bhutanese men and women have 
joined us. After extended periods in refugee 
camps, they find learning English a struggle, 
but they are very enthusiastic and good hu-
moured, often laughing at each other’s attempts 
to master the strange sounds of this difficult, 
new language.

“In spite of language barriers and ethnic 
differences, we have found students are very 
supportive of each other and we teachers find 
working with them both a challenge and a 
delight.”

Foundation House would like to thank all its 
English language class volunteers—former and 

present—for their dedication and assistance  
to students of the program. 

English language 
class volunteers

Regular
•	 Margaret Wehl
•	 Helen Hanrahan
•	 Anne Hayman

•	 Nanda Chettri 
(Bhutanese interpreter)

Occasional
•	 Jenny Little
•	 Peter van Leeuwen

•	 Erin Eades 
•	 Catherine Price

foundation House clients hone english language skills 

 > Regular English language class volunteer Helen Hanrahan assists a Nepali-speaking 
Bhutanese man, one of several Bhutanese-background men and women in the class of 2012.

 > Long-time English language class volunteer Margaret Wehl (right) assists a Foundation House 
client with her studies.
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A CaMBoDIan women’s group facilitated by 
foundation House has become an impor-

tant forum for self-reflection, connection and 
healing.

More than 30 years have passed since the 
first Cambodian refugees found themselves 
residents at various hostels around Melbourne. 
As one of Victoria’s longer-established refugee 
communities, the first Cambodian émigrés 
have embraced life in Australia with character-
istic gentleness and a determination to recreate 
their shattered lives.

As survivors of Pol Pot’s genocidal regime, 
and often long-term internees in refugee 
camps along the Thai Cambodian border, most 
Cambodians—similar to many refugee com-
munities in the initial phase of resettlement—
privileged hard work as a pathway to healing 
and recovery. This was complemented by a 
preference ‘not to remember’ (or to forget) the 
unspeakable horrors of the past. Engagement 
with western counselling was thus very limited.

Three decades later, many Cambodians were 
‘more ready’ to examine their past experiences 
of torture, trauma, loss and grief. For example, 
some mothers felt compelled to revisit and talk 
of their childhoods during the Pol Pot regime, 
given their current experience of mothering. 

Complementary to this small but emerg-
ing presence of Cambodians within the agen-
cy’s counselling service has been the develop-
ment of a group work program specifically for 
Cambodians.

In 2009, the Foundation facilitated two 
groups for Cambodian women, focusing on 
psychological and psychosocial functioning. 
The groups (eight to 10 sessions fortnightly) 
involved 10 to 12 women. The second group in-
volved some participants from the first group, 
enabling a valuable opportunity to discuss past 
torture, trauma, loss and grief, as well as incor-
porating new participants. Participants were 
mostly long-term residents who had entered 
Australia on Refugee and Special Humanitarian 
visas. All the women had lived through the Pol 
Pot regime.

The Foundation implemented an integrated 

group work program in 2010–2011 for which 
it designed a culturally appropriate model for 
engaging with the Cambodian community. The 
women readily engaged at the sessions with 
useful and honest self-disclosure. It became 
evident via both self-report and observation that 
the group had become a primary (and perhaps 
unique) environment for revisiting the past and 
healing.

The presence of a Cambodian Bicultural 
Facilitator, Nary Sam, who provides language 
assistance and co-facilitates with Jasmina 
Mulugeta, has been of critical importance to the 
group. Nary’s shared life experience, sophis-
ticated knowledge of Cambodian culture and 
bilingual/ bicultural skills have been critical to 
the group’s capacity to sensitively ‘engage with 
the past and celebrate the present’.

The 10-weekly sessions included discussions 
around how past experiences can impact on the 
present, participants’ experience of Australia 
and Australian culture, how the women 
managed sadness and anxiety, strategies for 
managing problems with sleep and traumatic 
memories, and short English lessons. 

Other sessions covered the use of herbal 

remedies for pain, particularly for management 
of headaches and other muscular pain, as well 
as a Tai Chi session to promote the healing 
nature of gentle exercise and body awareness.

Though the program no longer includes a 
formal ten session model, fortnightly sessions 
for participants to meet and share their experi-
ences are ongoing.

The Foundation is also piloting a similar 
group for Cambodian males.

Cambodian women’s group remembers the past, celebrates the present

“…it was good to learn that our experiences are normal and that 
refugees from lots of different countries have similar experiences.”

“We go to hard places, but also laugh, exercise and learn  
from each other.”

Benefits of the 
‘group’ experience
Two Foundation House Cambodian 
women’s group participants with obvious 
and continuing psychological symptoms 
of trauma were invited to attend 
complementary counselling sessions with 
one of the group’s facilitators, with whom 
they had developed a strong level of trust. 
‘Couple work’ is a creative and culturally- 
appropriate way of engaging the women 
in ‘deeper level’ work. Both women have 
attended several co-joint counselling 
sessions indicating that they would 
not have had the confidence to access 
counselling individually.
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continued growth of our monthly e-bulletin 
(now with more than 800 subscribers). The 
new website (http://refugeehealthnetwork.
org.au/) provides up-to-date resources and 
referral information related to specialised 
refugee health care. 

•	 Publishing an updated edition of Promoting 
Refugee Health: A Guide for Doctors, Nurses 
and other Health Care Providers Caring for 
People of Refugee Backgrounds, and of the 
desktop guide that accompanies it (Caring 
for Refugee Patients in General Practice). This 
update was made possible via support from 

– Partners
In 2011–2012 we partnered with:
•	 Ballarat Community Health Centre
•	 Bendigo Community Health Services
•	 Glastonbury Community Services in 

Geelong
•	 Latrobe Community Health Service in 

the Latrobe Valley
•	 Primary Care Connect in Shepparton
•	 Sunraysia Community Health Services 

in Mildura
•	 Swan Hill District Health.

Rural and regional services

More than 11 per cent of new arrivals to Victoria 
in 2011–2012 settled in rural and regional 
areas. An increasing number of asylum seekers 
moved to rural and regional Victoria and com-
munity detention placements through commu-
nity agencies. 

In response, Foundation House has estab-
lished partnerships with seven counselling 
agencies in rural and regional areas. These 
agencies now have staff experienced in working 
with refugee survivors of torture and trauma. 

We also identified counsellors in newer 
settlement areas, providing them with profes-
sional development, support, information and 
secondary consultation across the state. In 
2011–2012, this has included Nhill, Horsham, 
Wodonga, Colac, Castlemaine and Wonthaggi.

We were very pleased to be advised 
of additional one-off funding of $286,000 by 
the Premier of Victoria, the Hon Ted Baillieu 
MLA, at our end-of-year celebration in 2011. “A 
significant number of new arrivals now settle in  
regional Victoria and we have to not only 
celebrate that, but indeed, make sure we 
address the issues,” Mr Baillieu said.

The mental health-funded services in 
Shepparton, Geelong and Mildura will include a 

focus on facilitating earlier intervention through 
community and sector capacity building. We are 
developing the 12-month pilot in partnership  
with Primary Care Connect,  Glastonbury 
Community Services and Sunraysia Community 
Health Services.

Victorian 
Refugee 
Health 
Network 
(VRHN) 
This year the 
VRHN celebrated 
its fifth anniver-
sary. Operating 
from its home at 
Foundation House, 
the Network provides a unique forum for clini-
cians to come together with government depart-
ments, settlement services and asylum seeker 
agencies to identify and address refugee health 
issues. Each year the Network—overseen by its 
Reference Group—convenes working groups 
and undertakes a range of projects, including 
research and resource development.

Highlights for the Network in 2011–2012 
include:
•	 A new website and logo image and the 

HeaLtH SeCtor DeVeLoPMent ProGraM
Supporting refugee health and services in rural and regional communities

 > The Primary Health Care Working Group meets regularly to discuss issues regarding the health and wellbeing of people of refugee background.
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– Oral health project 
strengthens services 
for refugees
The Oral Health Sector Capacity Building 
Project was undertaken in partnership 
with Dental Health Services Victoria. It 
included the development of: 
•	 a targeted education program for oral 

health services;
•	 online content highlighting available 

resources and literature;
•	 a model of care and accompanying 

factsheets to assist oral health services 
in working with people from refugee 
backgrounds. 

The model of care aims to promote good 
oral health practice throughout Victoria, 
with a particular focus on health education 
and follow-up care. The factsheets will 
provide information for busy practitioners 
in working with clients from refugee 
backgrounds 

The project was overseen by an advisory 
group that includes oral health staff 
and clinicians, researchers, settlement 
services, Dental Health Services Victoria 
and the Department of Health. 

the Department of Health and Ageing. 
The guides are available on the Foundation 
House website and provide comprehensive 
information on refugee health, torture 
and trauma-related adult and child health 
issues, and strategies for assisting people 
of refugee backgrounds to access health 

 > Western Region Health Centre oral health team and VFST staff at the final session of the oral health targeted education program.

services. A complementary update of the 
Refugee Health Assessment Guide was also 
undertaken in partnership with General 
Practice Victoria with funding from the 
Victorian Department of Health.

•	 The Primary Health Care Working Group. 
This group, comprising clinicians, settlement 

– Training evaluations 2011–2012
“The afternoon session was amazing, all of 
it: well presented, informative, respectful, 
thought-provoking.”

 “The combination of learning methods 
with interactive presentations and personal 
refugee journeys was very powerful. 
Presentation and workshops were 
interesting and informative and encouraged 
different ways of looking at problems.”

 “Excellent. Facilitators have excellent 
knowledge base and clearly have significant 
experience working with this client group.”

“I am feeling that I am better equipped 
with understanding of clients’ experience 
of torture and trauma and how to support 
them.”

“I feel I can respond more comprehensively 
and confidently to refugee health needs.”

“You successfully made something I thought 
would be heavy and almost depressing into a 
happy, empowering experience.”

“I had no idea there were so very many 
[refugees] and also how few we actually 
take.”

“Great training—thank you for sharing 
your personal casework stories—I found 
it to be very enlightening and it made 
understanding the concepts easier.”

“I can now appreciate and understand better 
the background behind some comments 
clients make.”

“Instructors were both very good: 
approachable, relaxed and intelligent.”

“I appreciated the presenters’ openness and 
gentleness.”
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 > The first group of post-graduate Refugee Health Nursing students with lecturer Sue Willey 
(centre), Statewide Refugee Health Nurse facilitator, Lindy Marlow (third from the left), and 
Conrad Aiken (far left) from Foundation House.

Learning and professional development

In 2011–2012, Foundation House delivered 258 
training sessions to 5487 participants in educa-
tion, health and community services, to help 
these sectors better respond to the needs of 
people from a refugee background. 

We have also had many requests for profes-
sional development in relation to working with 
asylum seekers and the impact of detention and 
have developed specific materials to address 
this interest.

– New post-graduate unit  
in Refugee Health Nursing 

In 2005, Foundation House partnered 
with the Statewide Refugee Health Nurse 
Facilitator based at Western Region Health 
Centre to develop and deliver a professional 
development program for refugee health 
nurses.

In 2011, we entered into a partnership 
with the School of Nursing and Midwifery at 
Monash University to develop a post-graduate 
unit in Refugee Health Nursing, with funding 
from the Department of Health. The course, 
the first of its kind in Australia, can only 
be completed online, making it available 
nationally and internationally. 

Students can undertake a single unit 
or complete a post-graduate certificate or 
a Masters in Nursing (Refugee Health) 
incorporating this unit. We were very 
pleased that Lindy Marlow, Statewide 
Refugee Health Nurse Facilitator, developed 
the course content with Suzanne Willy, 
an experienced and well-respected former 
refugee health nurse and now a lecturer 
at Monash University’s School of Nursing 
and Midwifery. The first group of students 
completed the unit, which included a 
two-day seminar at Foundation House, in 
the first semester of 2011. 

staff, asylum seeker agencies, Medicare 
Locals and GP Divisions, and government 
representatives meets to identify issues 
impacting on the health and wellbeing of 
people of refugee backgrounds at a primary 
care level, and to advocate for policy and 
practical change around these issues.

•	 The Asylum Seeker Working Group. This 
working group arose in response to the 
increase in people being released from 
detention onto a Bridging Visa E. The 
group brings together agencies and health 
services to support adequate health care for 
asylum seekers in the community and in 
community detention.

•	 Conducting a successful roundtable on 
sexual and reproductive health, with groups 
meeting around the particular needs of 
young people, men and women. 

•	 The publication of new factsheets on asylum 
seeker health, including oral health.  

The VRHN continues to be an active member 
of the Refugee Health Network of Australia 
(RHeaNA), and was pleased to host the annual 
RHeaNA face-to-face at Foundation House in 
June 2012.

Health network hosts statewide 
maternal and child health forum

The VRHN and Foundation House hosted a 
forum in May 2012, focusing on maternal and 
child health services’ engagement with refugee 
families. 

The forum was well-attended, with partici-
pants from Melbourne, Geelong and Ballarat 
represented by state and local government, 
maternal and child health, and refugee health 
sectors.

The forum’s aim was to generate innova-
tive ideas for more effective maternal and child 
health services for families from refugee back-
grounds. The findings of research undertaken 
by the McCaughey Institute and Foundation 
House in relation to accessing maternal and 
child health services and the Early Learning is 
Fun (ELF) project (a Berry Street community 
initiative that develops activities and resources 
that support young children’s learning) were all 
presented.

Primary Health Care Forum

The VRHN co-hosted the annual Victorian 

Refugee Health Forum for GPs and Primary 
Health Care Providers’ with the Northern 
Division of General Practice, which more than 
60 GPs and nurses attended. 

The interactive forum included keynote 
speeches from Paris Aristotle (Foundation 
House), Dr Rob Grenfell (Heart Foundation) 
and Christina George (Karen community 
member) as well as six breakout workshops 
on hepatitis, alcohol and other drugs, women’s 
health, masculinities, refugee health assess-
ment and paediatrics.
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FounDatIon HouSe continues to assist 
individuals, families and communities from 

a refugee background to rebuild their lives in 
australia with the support of a number of 
organisations, groups and individuals. 

In addition to financial support, Foundation 
House and its clients have benefited from a 
range of in-kind and pro bono assistance. It is 
very reassuring to have so many friends com-
mitted to supporting our work. We appreciate 
the assistance and we value the relationships 
we have formed with the people who offer their 
support. 

Foundation House would like to acknowl-
edge the financial and in-kind support of the 
following organisations and individuals.

Funding – Government

•	 Commonwealth Department of Health  
and Ageing

•	 Commonwealth Department of Immigration 
and Citizenship

•	 Dental Health Services Victoria
•	 Department of Education and Early 

Childhood Development
•	 Victorian Department of Health

Other Funding

•	 Australian Communities Foundation
•	 Australia Post
•	 Australian Red Cross
•	 Anna Wearne Trust
•	 Barr Family Foundation
•	 Ms Caroline Durré
•	 Catholic Education Office
•	 City of Greater Dandenong
•	 Dara Foundation
•	 General Practice Victoria
•	 The Highlands Foundation
•	 The Invergowrie Foundation
•	 Karen McLeod Adair and Anthony Adair
•	 McLeod Family Foundation
•	 Manee Ryan (Education Partnership 

International)
•	 nib foundation
•	 Portland House Foundation
•	 SKAR Foundation 

Sidney Myer Fund and  
The Myer Foundation

•	 Spectrum Migrant Resource Centre

•	 St Monica’s College
•	 Mr Victor and Mrs Fleur Spitzer
•	 William Buckland Foundation

Donations were also made by a number of 
generous individuals throughout the year; big 
or small, every donation helped us maintain, 
improve or expand the services we provide to our 
clients, their families and their communities. 

In-kind Support and Services

•	 Arts Access
•	 Andrew Demetriou, Australian Football 

League
•	 Circus Oz 
•	 Integria (Mediherb)
•	 Marion Hadingham
•	 Margaret Wehl and family
•	 Russell Kennedy Lawyers
•	 Southern Light Herbs
•	 UNHCR Regional Office Canberra

So much support, so many 
achievements

So many individuals and organisations make 
contributions large and small to the work, 
service and achievements of Foundation 
House, and we don’t know how we could ever 
accurately list them all. What we do know is that 
we could not do what we do without the gen-
erosity, commitment and collaboration of each 
and every one of you. 

Please accept our warm and sincere thanks 
for your support during the past year. 
•	 Clients
•	 Staff
•	 Board of Management members
•	 Members
•	 Patrons
•	 Neighbours – The Bouverie Centre  

and Milparinka
•	 Government funding bodies
•	 Philanthropic trusts
•	 Private donors
•	 Corporate supporters
•	 Contractors and suppliers
•	 Volunteers
•	 Refugee, health, education and community 

sector colleagues
•	 Victorian Government

•	 Commonwealth Government
•	 Local Members of Parliament
•	 Media representatives 

We would also like to acknowledge the sig-
nificant contribution of our Ethics Committee 
and advisory/reference groups auspiced by 
the Foundation, including the Refugee Health 
Network, Family Strengthening commu-
nity advisory groups and the Cross-cultural 
Assessment Working Group. 

VFST Institutional Ethics Committee

•	 John Gibson (until May 2012)
•	 Father Andrew Hamilton
•	 Professor Helen Herrman
•	 Jill Jameson
•	 David Manne 
•	 Dr Mary O’Brien
•	 Dr Dick Sloman 
•	 Joe Zaia 

Research Sub-Committee

•	 Dr David Corlett
•	 Associate Professor Renata Kokanovic 

(until October 2011)
•	 Associate Professor Jeanette Lawrence
•	 Dr Raelene Wilding

To those organisations and individuals not on 
this page but who support Foundation House in 
a myriad of ways, including all our volunteers—
occasional or long-serving—thank you for your 
invaluable contribution to our organisation.

thank you 

 > End-of-year celebration, December 2011.
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FounDatIon HouSe lost one of 
its greatest supporters and a dear 

friend with the passing of John aubrey 
Gibson in September, 2012.

As our founding chairperson, John’s 
passion and values helped shape our 
identity and purpose, creating a legacy 
that will guide our work always. 

John recalled the very first meeting 
that instigated the creation of a 
dedicated service to assist refugees who 
had suffered torture and trauma in a 
publication released to celebrate the 
20th anniversary of Foundation House 
in 2007.

“It was December 1986 when that first 
meeting happened. One of the constant 
themes in my 20s and 30s was to try and get involved in causes related to 
human rights and torture and trauma, and the legal and psychological aspects 
of that. It was a very interesting group in attendance. We had doctors, social 
workers, psychologists, psychiatrists and administrators. After the speakers 
had done the lead up, describing the need for a service for survivors of torture 
and trauma, we were asked to indicate our willingness to be involved as a 
steering committee. There were about 15 of us there and we all stood up.”  — 
More Than Just Words

John’s efforts as a member of the steering committee led to the 
establishment of the Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture in 
1987, which today provides assistance to more than 3000 survivors of 
torture and trauma annually and conducts a range of other activities to 
promote the health and wellbeing of people of refugee backgrounds. 

As the inaugural Chair, John 
contributed in various capacities to the 
agency throughout the years, including 
as a member of the Committee of 
Management and Chair of the VFST’s 
Institutional Ethics Committee.

Director Paris Aristotle says that 
John always acted with “energy, 
integrity and enthusiasm.” John’s legal 
background saw Paris often seeking his 
advice on a range of complex refugee 
legal issues, an expertise John shared 
generously.

John spent more than 25 years 
engaged in the refugee sector in 
different capacities, including as 
a member of the Refugee Review 

Tribunal and president of the Refugee Council of Australia. John was 
a member of the Victorian Bar for more than 30 years, specialising 
in refugee and migration law, and was involved in projects analysing 
asylum systems internationally.

John was inducted as a Legend to the Victorian Bar in September 
2012 in recognition of his outstanding achievements and exemplary 
service to the public and the administration of justice. 

To honour John’s exceptional contribution protecting the rights of 
asylum seekers and refugees, Foundation House in partnership with the 
University of Melbourne have established ‘The John Gibson Memorial 
Prize in Refugee Law’ to recognise academic excellence for a student 
studying in an area of refugee law. The prize will be awarded annually, 
commencing in 2013. 

In Memoriam 
John Aubrey Gibson

“The great strength of the Foundation was that we were always somewhere safe and the clients felt it was 
their place. It is a haven. It is something solid, that’s there, that people can go to.”  – John Aubrey Gibson

David Scott AO

DaVID SCott, a patron of foundation House 
for more than two decades (he stepped down in 

2010) died peacefully in april 2012. He remained an 
active and strong advocate for the disadvantaged and 
dispossessed right to the end. 

In a colourful and diverse professional career, 
David was best known for his time as director of the 
Brotherhood of St Laurence, founder of Community 
Aid Abroad, chairman of the Land Conservation 
Council and Victoria’s first Commissioner for the 
Environment.

Less widely known are the seminal roles he played 
in assisting the Fretilin leadership on the world stage 

and East Timor’s struggle for independence, his 
presidency of VCOSS, ACOSS and the International 
Council of Social Welfare, and his board role at 
the SEC. For organisations such as the Tenants 
Union, Community Child Care, legal aid centres 
and Shelter, David will be remembered as a great 
supporter of small activist groups, often providing 
free accommodation and other support to help them 
get started. 

A memoir largely completed before David’s death 
will be published in early 2013.

— Many thanks to Hayden Raysmith AM for compiling 
this obituary on behalf of Foundation House.PH
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Foundation House brings together an increas-
ingly diverse management and staff team whose 
commitment to human rights and achievement 
of high quality levels of service to survivors is 
unparalleled. 

Foundation House Board of 
Management 

•	 Lynne Haultain (Chair)
•	 David Bilander (Deputy Chair)
•	 Michelle Groves (Secretary and Public 

Officer)
•	 Richard Home (Treasurer)
•	 Helen Casey
•	 Lenora Lippmann
•	 Karen McLeod Adair
•	 Ian McKenzie
•	 Dick Sloman
•	 Genevieve Timmons

Foundation House Agency 
Management Team

•	 Paris Aristotle AM
•	 Sue Casey
•	 David Gorrie
•	 Lew Hess
•	 Ida Kaplan
•	 Roslyn Leary
•	 Chris Pierson
•	 Mardi Stow
•	 Jo Szwarc

Foundation House Staff Teams

•	 Agency Operations 
•	 Complementary Therapies
•	 Direct Services (Northern, South Eastern 

and Western region teams)
•	 Detention and Community Detention 
•	 Health Sector Development Program 
•	 Research and Policy Program
•	 Service Innovation Program 

Our staff

•	 Alexander Gorrie
•	 Amy Camilleri
•	 Andrea Stewart
•	 Andrew Kalon
•	 Angela Woodburn
•	 Anita Biesheuvel
•	 Anne Cary
•	 Anne Clifford
•	 Annerose Reiner
•	 Annie Mullarvey
•	 Antonia Sotelo
•	 Aphrodite 

McGregor
•	 Arna Stewart
•	 Avalon Vickery
•	 Bernard O’Rourke
•	 Bernie Farrell
•	 Briele Hansen
•	 Bruce Eady
•	 Caroline Baker 

Management and staff 

 > Foundation House director Paris Aristotle (front row, second from left) with the agency’s Board of Management.

•	 Carolyn Wilson
•	 Catherine Smith
•	 Cecilia Clarke
•	 Chitlu Wyn
•	 Chris Hortin
•	 Chris Nathan
•	 Chris Pierson
•	 Christina Pitter
•	 Christine 

Bakopanos
•	 Claire Wherry
•	 Clara Harper
•	 Clare Lincoln
•	 Claudia Thoms
•	 Colleen McFarlane
•	 Connie Crowe
•	 Conrad Aikin
•	 Corinne Marcello
•	 Cristina Wlasiuk
•	 Dimitra Cromdos continued over page

•	 Dina Korkees
•	 Donna Chesters
•	 Elizabeth Hess
•	 Elizabeth Sabella
•	 E’Mer San Shwe
•	 Eric Brunet
•	 Erin Hughes
•	 Fiona Lorrimar
•	 Fritha Melville
•	 Gautam Gurung
•	 Ged Lannan
•	 Geoffrey Buckley
•	 Georgia Phillips
•	 Gillian Kerr
•	 Giovanna Citta
•	 Graciela Lopez
•	 Guy Coffey
•	 Hala Chamas
•	 Heidi Wegner
•	 Hien Cong Bui
•	 Ida Kaplan
•	 Jacqueline Hoggart
•	 Jacqueline Robson
•	 Jane Grant
•	 Janina Munneke
•	 Janine Borrell
•	 Jasmina Mulugeta
•	 Jeanette Vadala
•	 Jennifer Adams
•	 Jess Krummel
•	 Jo Szwarc
•	 John Belieu

•	 Joyce Sadia-Peter
•	 Julia Doherty
•	 Katherine Cooney
•	 Kudzanayi Chirenje
•	 Leesl Wegner
•	 Leigh Johnston
•	 Lesley McLeod
•	 Lew Hess
•	 Liz Alexander
•	 Luke Neeson
•	 Machehi Komba
•	 Madeleine Valibhoy
•	 Manny Bonnici
•	 Mardi Stow
•	 Margaret Carney
•	 Maria Tucci
•	 Marie-Pierre 

Bouchet-Hibbert
•	 Marilyn Magno
•	 Mary Read
•	 Mary Utter
•	 Maureen O’Keefe
•	 May Maloney
•	 Michael Bromhead
•	 Michelle Maxine 

Hunter
•	 Miranda Nation
•	 Morag Mckillop
•	 Nafisa Ali
•	 Najla Naier
•	 Natasa Cordasic
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•	 Ni Can Van UK
•	 Nyakong Twang
•	 Olivia Kamashazi
•	 Paris Aristotle
•	 Philippa 

Duell-Piening
•	 Pina Garasi
•	 Rachel Vanstone
•	 Rebecca Cole
•	 Reginald Shwe
•	 Rose Blustein
•	 Rose Harper
•	 Roslyn Leary
•	 Sab Flamuri
•	 Salam Dankha
•	 Samantha 

McGuffie
•	 Sandi Howlett
•	 Sara Pearce
•	 Sarah Berberi
•	 Sarah MacWilliams
•	 Serena Everill
•	 Sharon Guo
•	 Sharrin Murphy
•	 Shelley Cook
•	 Shifrah Blustein
•	 Siobhan O’Mara
•	 Sophie Cavanagh
•	 Sue Casey
•	 Sue George

•	 Sue Liddelow
•	 Susannah Tipping 
•	 Susanne Prosser
•	 Susie Strehlow
•	 Thataw Kunoo
•	 Therese Meehan
•	 Thomas Mung
•	 Thuy Nguyen
•	 Victoria Ajoung
•	 Wee Thaw Keh
•	 Wendy Dunn
•	 William 

Fearnley-Sander
•	 Zakia Ebrahim

Research 
contributors 

•	 Abi Brooker 
(Research 
Associate)

•	 Alan Tucker 
(Adjunct Professor)

•	 Jeannette Lawrence 
(Associate 
Professor)

•	 Joanna O’Donohue
•	 Judy Baker 
•	 Hardy Stow
•	 Rachel Mcreadie
•	 Dr Yvonne Stolk

Consultants 

•	 Jeannie Marsh 
(Foundation House 
choir leader)

•	 Kathy Wilson
•	 Kris Honey
•	 Peter Dunn

Volunteers

•	 Erin Eades
•	 Helen Hanrahan
•	 Jacinta Craven
•	 Jacquie Hourigan
•	 Margaret Wehl
•	 Stina Stenkjaer
•	 Suzanne Cross

Complementary 
Therapy 
volunteers 

•	 Alex Caldwell 
(Shiatsu Therapy) 

•	 David Kelly 
(Physiotherapy) 

•	 Lester Jones 
(Physiotherapy) 

Students 

•	 Avalon Vickery
•	 Ben Scott
•	 David Crutchley
•	 Deca Nono
•	 Farida Bezhan 
•	 KyIi Hedrick
•	 Makson 

Chakkalakkal
•	 Nikethana 

Venkatesan
•	 Rojin Akrawi
•	 Simon Loyd
•	 Sobia Shafique
•	 Sophie Harvey
•	 Sussan Mahjoor

FounDatIon HouSe staff and supporters raised more than 
$7,000 at a film fundraiser for Char Horish, a needy school in 

Bangladesh. 
Held at Melbourne’s Cinema Nova in November 2011, the event 

attracted more than 200 friends and supporters of Foundation House. 
The Char Horish school was built in 2006 with the aid of funds 

raised by Foundation House. The Foundation hosts annual events to 
support the school’s ongoing costs, including teachers’ salaries, books 
and stationery. 

More information about founder Fred Hyde’s Char Fasson 
Children’s Fund (the auspicing body for funds raised to build and 
run schools in Bangladesh), can be found at  
www.charfassonchildrensfund.org

 > Char Horish school.

fundraiser attracts critical funds for Bangladeshi school 
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 > End-of-year celebrations, December 2011.

http://www.charfassonchildrensfund.org


The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture Annual Report 2011–2012 | 33

financial statements

THE VICTORIAN FOUNDATION FOR SURVIVORS OF TORTURE
ABN: 52 783 974 656

Board’s Report 

Your Board Members submit the financial report of The Victorian 
Foundation for Survivors of Torture for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012.

Board Members

The names of Board members throughout the financial year and at the 
date of this report are:
•	 Lynne Haultain
•	 Helen Casey
•	 Michelle Groves
•	 Genevieve Timmons
•	 Dick Sloman
•	 David Bilander
•	 Ian McKenzie
•	 Lenora Lippman 
•	 Richard Home
•	 Karen McLeod Adair

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the foundation is to provide a range of support 
services to the survivors of torture who currently reside in Victoria. 

Operating Result

The surplus amounted to $163,579 (2011: Surplus $250,414).

After Balance Date Events

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial 
year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the foundation, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the association in future financial years.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Members of the Board:

Richard Home
Treasurer
5 October 2012

Statement of comprehensive income 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes 2012 2011

$ $

Revenue 2 10,225,118 10,252,720

Salaries, wages and on-costs (6,574,890) (6,773,020)

National forum / FASSTT (46,460) (47,050)

Bank and credit card charges (3,907) (4,036)

Building and occupancy costs (383,206) (312,691)

Equipment, computing / IT, supplies and 
depreciation

(93,690) (93,345)

Conferences, seminars, publications and 
professional development

(89,711) (54,719)

Interpreting costs (632,244) (744,223)

Program, consultant, contractor and client 
costs

(1,127,507) (542,464)

Advertising, volunteer, agency and Board 
expenses

(5,100) (64,084)

Motor vehicle expenses and depreciation (377,729) (437,561)

Client travel expenses (43,780) (47,151)

Printing, stationary and postage (210,432) (103,322)

Telephone expenses (117,494) (134,288)

Professional fees (17,561) (31,738)

Research and evaluation fees (245,541) (406,647)

Other expenses (92,286) (205,967)

Total expenditure (10,061,538) (10,002,306)

Operating surplus before income tax 3 163,579 250,414

Income tax 1 (a) — —

Surplus for the year 163,579 250,414

Other comprehensive income, net of tax — —

Total comprehensive income for the period 163,579 250,414
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Statement of financial position 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

Notes 2012 2011

$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 170,416 840,828

Term deposits 6 2,834,402 1,650,188

Trade and other receivables 7 390,912 541,319

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,395,730 3,032,335

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,145,292 1,326,018

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,145,292 1,326,018

TOTAL ASSETS 4,541,022 4,358,353

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 9 236,697 261,088

Borrowings 11 74,080 74,074

Deferred income 978,864 985,850

Provisions 10 996,169 962,103

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,285,810 2,283,115

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 11 92,380 154,145

Provisions 10 231,503 153,344

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 323,883 307,489

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,609,693 2,590,604

NET ASSETS 1,931,328 1,767,749

EQUITY

Retained earnings 12 1,517,335 1,517,335

General Reserve 13 413,993 250,414

TOTAL EQUITY 1,931,328 1,767,749

Statement of Changes in Equity 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

2012 2011

$ $

Retained earnings

Opening balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

Total comprehensive income for the 
period

163,579 250,414

Transfer to general reserve (163,579) (250,414)

Closing Balance 12 1,517,335 1,517,335

General Reserve

Opening reserves 250,414 —

Transfers from accumulated surplus 163,579 250,414

Closing Balance 13 413,993 250,414

Total equity at year end 1,931,328 1,767,749

Statement of cash flows 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Notes 2012 2011

$ $

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from funding sources and 
operations

10,336,728 10,479,852

Payments to consultants, suppliers and 
employees

(9,946,289) (10,146,413)

Interest received 237,211 100,752

Net cash provided by operating activities 14 627,650 434,191

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and 
equipment

(100,558) (214,749)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
and equipment

66,709 78,560

Net cash used in investing activities (33,849) (136,189)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings (80,000) (80,000)

Net cash used in financing activities (80,000) (80,000)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 513,801 218,002

Cash at beginning of financial year 2,491,016 2,273,014

Cash at end of financial year 5 3,004,818 2,491,016
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

note 1: StateMent of SIGnIfICant aCCountInG PoLICIeS
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has 
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
including Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 of Victoria.

The financial report covers The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of 
Torture as an individual entity. The Victorian Foundation for Survivors 
of Torture is an association incorporated and domicile in Victoria, 
Australia under the Associations Incorporations Act 1981.

For the purposes of this financial report, the entity is considered to 
be a not-for–profit entity and as such has prepared this financial report 
with reference to the requirements regarding Not–For-Profits in the 
Australian Accounting Standards.

All amounts are presented in Australian dollars. The financial report 
was authorised for issue by the Board of Management on the date 
shown on the Board of Management declaration.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies 
adopted by the association in the preparation of the financial report. The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise 
stated.

Reporting Basis and Conventions

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based 
on historical costs modified by the revaluation of selected non-current 
assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair 
value basis of accounting has been applied.

Significant Judgements and Key Assumptions

No significant judgements have been made in applying accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

No key assumptions have been made concerning the future and 
there are no other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 
date that the Board Members consider have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The association is exempt under Section 50-145 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property plant and equipment is carried at cost less, 
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually 
by the association to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount of those assets. The recoverable amount is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and the depreciated replacement cost.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets are depreciated over the 
useful lives of the assets to the association commencing from the 
time the asset was held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 
amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease 
or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets 
are:
Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rates Depreciation Basis

Building and improvements 3.7–16.67% Diminishing Value / Straight Line

Plant and equipment 10-33% Straight Line

Motor vehicles 22.5% Straight Line

(c) Leases

Lease payments under operating leases, where substantially all the 
risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in 
the periods in which they are incurred.

(d) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the association’s liability for employee benefits 
arising from services rendered by employees to balance date. 
Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year together 
with benefits arising from wages and salaries, and annual leave 
which will be settled after one year, have been measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled plus related 
on-costs. Other employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits.

Contributions are made by the association to an employee 
superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when incurred.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held 
at-call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments.
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(f) Revenue

Revenue includes revenue from services, the State and 
Commonwealth Government and other sources supported by 
community initiatives. Donations are recognised as revenue when 
received.

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income when it is controlled. Where there are conditions attached 
to the grant revenue relating to the use of those grants for specific 
purposes it is recognised in the statement of financial position as a 
liability until such conditions are met or services provided.

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into 
account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue 
has been established.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST).

(g) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the association becomes party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the financial assets expire or are transferred and 
no longer controlled by the entity.

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or 
expires.

(h) Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the 
fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated 
with the borrowing. After initial recognition, loans and borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process.

(i) General Reserve

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer surplus 
from retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer. It is 
used to support on going projects, provide seed funding for new 
projects and replace capital equipment.

(j) Impact of Adopting New Accounting Standards and New/Revised 
Accounting standards Not Yet Effective 

There have been a number of amendments made to Accounting 
Standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(“AASB”) that are not yet effective.

The Board Members do not believe that the new and revised 
standards issued by the AASB that are not yet effective will have any 
material impact on the financial statements.

note 2: reVenue
Notes 2012 2011

$ $

Grants:

Commonwealth Department of Health 
and Ageing

4,144,395 2,071,839

Commonwealth Department of 
Immigration and Citizenship

950,819 3,327,285

Victorian Department of Health 2,103,044 2,307,777

Victorian Department of Education & 
Early Childhood Development 

733,133 665,535

Donations 65,272 461,801

Grants from Foundations, Trusts and 
Corporations

1,770,231 865,144

Interest Received 242,579 109,845

Membership Subscriptions 2,102 3,497

Surplus on Sale of Assets 25,576 22,669

Consulting and Training Fees 76,889 61,527

Reimbursements, National Forum and 
Other Income

201,168 355,801

10,225,118 10,252,720

note 3: oPeratInG SurPLuS for tHe year
The operating surplus for the year is $163,579 
(2011: surplus $250,414) and arises after charging: 
Depreciation 238,512 294,664

Superannuation expense – defined 
contribution plans

505,070 514,986

Operating lease expenses – rent of office 
building

184,029 163,520

Notional interest charged on interest free 
loan from Dara Foundation

18,241 22,831

Loss on disposal of property , plant and 
equipment

1,642 1,615

note 4: auDItor’S feeS
Audit fees 15,740 14,960

note 5: CaSH anD CaSH equIVaLentS
Cash on hand 815 2,227

Cash at bank 169,601 838,601

170,416  840,828

Term deposits 6 2,834,402 1,650,188

Cash at end of year in Cash Flow Statement 3,004,818 2,491,016

Bank accounts are at call, and are accruing  
interest at a rate of 4.05% per annum. 

note 6: terM DePoSIt
2012 2011

$ $

Term Deposit 2,834,402 1,650,188

The term deposits are a 12 month deposit of $1,500,000, held at MECU 
maturing on 7 June 2013, 4 month deposit of $1,200,000 maturing 
on 4 September 2012 and 7 month deposit of $134,402 matured on 
30 June 2012. The interest rates applied to the three term deposits are 
5.05%, 5.50% and 5.50%.
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note 7: traDe anD otHer reCeIVaBLeS
2012 2011

$ $

Trade receivables 322,601 454,223

Sundry debtors 10,500 10,500

Accrued revenue 38,186 25,160

Prepayments 19,625 51,436

390,912 541,319

note 8: ProPerty, PLant anD equIPMent
Buildings and improvements 752,208 691,895

Accumulated depreciation (107,971) (73,092)

644,237 618,803

Plant and equipment at cost 478,127 501,415

Accumulated depreciation (360,850) (335,233)

117,277 166,182

Motor vehicles at cost 933,791 1,023,250

Accumulated depreciation (550,013) (482,217)

383,778 541,033

Total of property, plant and equipment 1,145,292 1,326,018

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movements in the carrying amount of each class of property, plant 
and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year are as follows:

2012 2011

$ $

Building and improvements

Written down value at the beginning of 
the year

618,803 554,406

Additions 60,313 90,594

Depreciation (34,879) (26,198)

Written down value at the end of the year 644,237 618,802

Plant and equipment

Written down value at the beginning of 
the year

166,182 196,121

Additions 16,539 36,640

Depreciation (63,803) (66,579)

Written down value at the end of the year 117,277 166,182

Motor vehicles

Written down value at the beginning of 
the year

541,033 712,911

Additions 23,708 87,515

Disposals (41,133) (57,507)

Depreciation (139,830) (201,886)

Written down value at the end of the year 383,778 541,033

note 9: traDe anD otHer PayaBLeS 
Trade payables 169,532 261,986

Superannuation 67,165 (898)

236,697 261,088

note 10: ProVISIonS

2012 2011

$ $

CURRENT

Annual leave 595,528 585,418

Long service leave 400,641 376,685

996,169 962,103

NON-CURRENT

Long service leave 231,503 153,344

1,227,671 1,115,447

note 11: BorroWInGS
Current 74,080 74,074

Non-current 92,380 154,145

166,460 228,219

The loan is an interest free loan provided by The Dara Foundation 
and is repayable in quarterly instalments over 6 years. The balance 
represents the discounted cash balance at 30 June 2012, using a 
discount rate of 8% (2011: 8%). The outstanding cash balance at 30 June 
2012 was $190,000 (2011: $270,000). The notional interest charge of 
$18,241 (2011: $22,831) is included in Building and occupancy costs.

note 12: retained earnings 
2012 2011

$ $

Opening balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

Total comprehensive income for the 
period

163,579 250,414

Transfer to reserves (163,579) (250,414)

Closing Balance 1,517,335 1,517,335

note 13: reserves 
General Reserve 413,993 250,414

The general reserve is used from time to time to transfer surplus from 
retained earnings. There is no policy of regular transfer. It is used to 
support on going projects, provide seed funding for new projects and 
replace capital equipment.

note 14: net cash flow from operating activities
2012 2011

$ $

Operating surplus 163,579 250,414

Add back depreciation 238,512 294,663

Less surplus on disposal (25,578) (22,669)

Add Loss on disposal 1,641 1,615

Add back notional interest on loan 18,241 22,831

(Increase) Decrease in trade receivables 150,407 550,651

Increase (Decrease) in trade payables (24,391) (510,388)

Increase (Decrease) in provisions 112,225 170,593

Increase (Decrease) in revenue received 
in advance

(6,986) (323,519)

627,650 434,191
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note 15: Members
The organisation is an incorporated association. In the event of the 
winding up or dissolution of the association, any property remaining 
after the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities will not be distributed or 
transferred to members, but will be distributed or transferred to other 
institution(s) with similar objectives to The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture. 

note 16: reLateD PartIeS DISCLoSure
The names of persons who were Board members at any time during the 
year are set out in the Annual Report. Board members do not receive 
remuneration for services provided. There were no other transactions 
that require disclosure for the year ended 30 June 2012.  

note 17: eXPenDIture CoMMItMentS
The Foundation has no capital commitments contracted for at 30 June 
2012.

The Foundation is subject to non-cancellable operating leases 
that are contracted for but not capitalised in the financial report. The 
Foundation’s obligations fall due as follows: 

2012 2011

$ $

Not later than one year 140,474 130,155

Later than one year and not later than five 
years

190,471 29,658

330,945 159,813

note 18: fInanCIaL InStruMentS 

(a)  Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Foundation’s principal financial instruments comprise 
receivables, payables, and cash and short–term deposits. These 
activities expose the Foundation to a variety of financial risks: market 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Board Members manage the different types of risks to which 
the Foundation is exposed by considering risk and monitoring 
levels of exposure to the risks identified and by being aware of the 
environment and external factors that will impact the risk. This 
includes monitoring interest rates and the factors that impact 
interest rate movements, and determining how best to monitor the 
risk arising from those movements. Ageing analyses and monitoring 
of specific credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, 
liquidity risk is monitored through general business budgets and 
forecasts.

The Association holds the following financial instruments:
2012 2011

Financial Assets: $ $

Cash and term deposits 3,004,817 2,491,016

Receivables 322,601 454,223

Total Financial Assets 3,327,418 2,945,239

Financial Liabilities:

Trade and sundry creditors 236,697 261,088

Borrowings 166,460 228,219

Total Financial Liabilities 403,157 489,307

Net Exposure 2,924,261 2,455,932

(b) Risk Exposures and Responses

 Interest Rate Risk

The Foundation’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily 
to short term deposits held. The borrowings of the Foundation are 
interest free. (See note 11). Balances subject to interest rate risk are as 
follows: 

2012 2011

$ $

Bank accounts 4.05% 169,716 840,827

Term Deposit –MECU 5.05% 1,500,000 820,189

Term Deposit –MECU 5.5% 1,200,000 130,000

Term Deposit – MECU 5.5% 134,402 700,000

3,004,118 2,491,016

 Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk 
exposures in existence at the balance sheet date. At 30 June 2012, if 
interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all 
other variables held constant, surplus and equity would have been 
affected as follows:

Net Surplus
Higher / (Lower)

Net Assets
Higher / (Lower)

As at 30 June As at 30 June

2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

+2% (200 basis points) (2011: 2%) 60,080 49,776 60,080 49,776

-1% (100 basis points) (2011: 1%) 30,040 24,888 30,040 24,888

The Foundation’s exposure to credit risk is minimal. Cash is 
deposited in secure banking facilities to minimise the exposure to 
credit risks of bank deposits. Trade receivables relate to Grant and 
Government funding and are not considered to be a significant 
exposure to credit risk.

 Price Risk

The Foundation is not exposed to price risk.
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 Liquidity Risk

The Foundation’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal, as the 
Foundation hold sufficient cash balances in order to ensure that all 
liabilities are paid when due. The maturity of financial liabilities can 
be summarised as follows: 
2011 1 year or

Less
$

Over 1–5 
years

$

More Than
5 years

$

Total
$

Trade and Other Payables 261,088 – – 261,088

Borrowings 74,074 154,145 – 228,219

335,162 154,145 – 489,307

The undiscounted cash flows from borrowings are as follows: 
80,000 190,000 – 270,000

2012 1 year or
Less

$

Over 1–5
years

$

More Than
5 years

$

Total
$

Trade and Other Payables 236,697 – – 236,697

Borrowings 74,080 92,380 – 166,460

310,777 92,380 403,157

The undiscounted cash flows from borrowings are as follows: 
80,000 110,000 190,000

note 19: Key ManaGeMent PerSonneL CoMPenSatIon
Short-term  

Benefits
Salary ($)

Post Employment  
Benefits

Superannuation ($)

Total
$

2012 821,684 75,148 896,832

2011 849,011 74,306 923,317

note 20: aSSoCIatIon DetaILS
The principal place of business of the Foundation is:

The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture
Foundation House
6 Gardiner Street
Brunswick Vic 3056 

161 Harvester Road
Sunshine Vic 3020

155 Foster Street
Dandenong Vic 3175

note 21: after BaLanCe Date eVentS
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial 
year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the association, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the foundation in future financial years.

Board Members Declaration

In the Board Members’ opinion:
•	 the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the 

Associations Incorporations Act 1981, the Accounting Standards, and 
other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

•	 the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair 
view of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the financial 
year ended on that date; and 

•	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Victorian Foundation 
for Survivors of Torture will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

 
Lynne Haultain Mr Richard Home 
Chairperson Treasurer 
5 October 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture 

Report on the Financial Report  

We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors 
of Torture, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, and the Board Members Declaration.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report   

The directors of the The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report 
is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the disclosing entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of Australian 
professional ethical pronouncements.  

Tel: +61 3 9603 1700
Fax: +61 3 9602 3870 
www.bdo.com.au 

Level 14, 140 William St 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
GPO Box 5099 Melbourne VIC 3001 
Australia 

BDO East Coast Partnership  ABN 83 236 985 726 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO (Australia) Ltd 
ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO East Coast Partnership and BDO (Australia) Ltd are members of BDO International 
Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional Standards Legislation (other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees) in each State or Territory other than 
Tasmania. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion the financial report of The Victorian Foundation for Survivors of Torture is in 
accordance with the Associations Incorporation Act 1981, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the association’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Associations Incorporation 
Act 1981. 

BDO East Coast Partnership

James Mooney

Partner

Melbourne, 5 October 2012 

97330_1.DOCX 



The Victorian Foundation for 
Survivors of Torture inc.
6 Gardiner Street
Brunswick, 3056
Victoria, Australia
telephone: (03) 9388 0022
Fax: (03) 9277 7871
email (all offices): 
info@foundationhouse.org.au 
web address:  
www.foundationhouse.org.au

Foundation House at 
Dandenong
155 Foster Street
Dandenong, 3175
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 8788 3333
Fax: (03) 8788 3399

Foundation House at 
Sunshine
161 Harvester Road
Sunshine, 3020
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 9300 8670
Fax: (03) 9277 7871

Foundation House at 
Ringwood
Suite 5/45–51 Ringwood Street
Ringwood, 3134
Victoria, Australia
Telephone: (03) 8788 3333

mailto:info@foundationhouse.org.au
http://www.foundationhouse.org.au
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